Al for Good Impact Report



In partnership with:





Disclaimers

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) or of the ITU secretariat concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by ITU in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted; the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by ITU to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader.

The opinions, findings and conclusions expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views of ITU or its membership.

Standard legal description

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL), its global network of member firms, and their related entities (collectively, the "Deloitte organization"). DTTL (also referred to as "Deloitte Global") and each of its member firms and related entities are legally separate and independent entities, which cannot obligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each DTTL member firm and related entity is liable only for its own acts and omissions, and not those of each other. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/ about to learn more.

Deloitte Global external communications disclaimer:

This communication contains general information only, and none of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL), its global network of member firms or their related entities (collectively, the "Deloitte organization") is, by means of this communication, rendering professional advice or services. Before making any decision or taking any action that may affect your finances or your business, you should consult a qualified professional adviser. No representations, warranties, or undertakings (express or implied) are given as to the accuracy or completeness of the information in this communication, and none of DTTL, its member firms, related entities, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for any loss or damage whatsoever arising directly or indirectly in connection with any person relying on this communication. DTTL and each of its member firms, and their related entities, are legally separate and independent entities.

ISBN

978-92-61-39741-8 (Electronic version)



Please consider the environment before printing this report.

© ITU 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is licensed to the public through a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-Share Alike 3.0 IGO license (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that ITU endorse any specific organization, products or services. The unauthorized use of the ITU names or logos is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the International Telecommunication Union (ITU). ITU is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition". For more information, please visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/

Al for Good

Impact Report



Foreword by ITU



We are at a turning point.

As Heads of State and Government have recognized in the Global Digital Compact, part of the newly adopted UN Pact for the Future, "the pace and power of emerging technologies are creating new possibilities but also new risks for humanity."

Nowhere is this more evident than with artificial intelligence.

Machine-learning models are forecasting weather faster and more accurately, helping us better prepare for the impacts of climate change. Al-powered brain-machine interfaces are giving ALS patients their voice back – just one of many groundbreaking innovations poised to transform healthcare.

ITU and more than 40 other UN agencies are using AI to connect schools, improve early warning systems, address social and economic inequalities, and much more.

At the same time, Al-driven automation risks making millions around the world more vulnerable to job displacement. Photos, including those of minors, are being scraped off the web to create powerful Al tools, often without consent. Deepfakes and misinformation are blurring reality and eroding public trust. Al systems are increasingly putting pressure on our planet's resources and our environment.

This report offers us a path forward, showcasing real-world Al use-cases that can accelerate progress across all 17 UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), while providing actionable recommendations to turn this potential into reality.

By establishing collaborations on AI standards, increasing access to AI infrastructure and talent, and fostering global partnerships for responsible AI, we have a unique opportunity to scale these solutions and make AI an engine for inclusive growth, innovation, and sustainable development.

The road ahead is not easy. The rapid pace of AI development means we are constantly playing catch-up in critical areas such as security, trust, and governance.

We must not lose sight of the fact that technological advancement should not come at the cost of human rights and human dignity. Nor can we allow advances in Al to outpace progress in digital inclusion.

Today, one third of humanity remains offline, cut off from the digital world, let alone the Al revolution. This divide is more than just a technological gap; it is both a moral and an economic imperative.

The 'Al for Good' platform, the largest UN system multi-stakeholder platform on Al, shows us what is possible when we all come together to ensure the responsible development and deployment of Al without stifling innovation – and without leaving anyone behind.

I encourage all government, private sector, academia, and civil society leaders to use this AI for Good Impact Report as a guide for writing the next chapter in the story of humanity and technology.

We are the AI generation. Together, let's seize this moment to harness AI as a force for good in support of the SDGs and for all humanity.

Doreen Bogdan-Martin

Secretary-General, International Telecommunication Union

Foreword by Deloitte



The interplay between Artificial Intelligence (AI) and the pursuit of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) is a topic of profound significance and complexity. As the evolution of AI continues to accelerate at an unprecedented pace, its potential to both facilitate and impede the achievement of the SDGs calls for our attention. The transformative power of AI presents opportunities for innovation, efficiency, and inclusivity, yet it also raises critical questions about ethics, equality, and potential environmental consequences.

In this report, we explore the multifaceted impact of AI on the SDGs, seeking to understand how governments and the public sector can harness its potential for the greater

good while mitigating the associated risks. It is crucial that the global community navigates these crossroads with unwavering commitment to responsible and sustainable development, ensuring that AI emerges as a catalyst for positive transformation in our collective pursuit of a better world for all.

Governments are already initiating important steps to address the challenges posed by AI within the SDG framework, while recognizing the endless possibilities AI generates. Aligning AI with the SDGs could offer solutions to the most pressing humanitarian issues, such as climate change, hunger, and poverty. Governments have a pivotal role to play in incentivizing this work and providing guardrails for AI's ethical use.

The development of regulatory landscape supporting companies in their AI journey can directly facilitate advancement and investment from the private sector for the integration of AI technologies across diverse industries, including healthcare, education, energy, agriculture, and financial services. This growing momentum represents a unified effort between the private and public sectors to leverage AI as a catalyst for progress, driving impactful solutions that align with the ambitious objectives outlined by the SDGs.

At Deloitte, our commitment is not only to enhancing our people's skills and expertise but also to the responsible use of AI, addressing its diverse challenges, and harnessing its considerable promise equitably. This aligns with our vision of societal advancement and the realization of the SDGs. We believe that robust collaboration across public and private sectors, as well as civil society, is essential to fully realize the potential of AI. Our collaboration with ITU represents an opportunity to contribute to supercharge the utilization of AI for a better future.

Costi Perricos

Generative Al Leader, Deloitte Global

Table of contents

Foreword by ITU	ii
Foreword by Deloitte	iv
Executive Summary	vii
Introduction	viii
Al and Generative Al Trends	1
Artificial intelligence is everywhere	1
Various industries are adopting AI technologies	2
Regional AI adoption and investments vary	5
Barriers to wider adoption of AI	7
Al is transforming the workforce	8
Al regulations and the role of frameworks	11
Regulations and frameworks on different levels	11
Global level	12
Standard setting	15
European Union	16
National level	19
Common themes of AI governance frameworks	20
Interoperability and Technical Standards: The Foundation for Global AI Governance	21
How organizations implement AI regulatory frameworks	22
Addressing Al's challenges	24
Policy and Governance	24
Economic Impact	25
Societal Implications	27
Focus area: Ethical Considerations	27
Focus Area: Rising Inequalities	28
Technical Feasibility and Infrastructure	28
Focus Area: Sustainability of Al	28
Achieving the SDGs with Al	30
Evaluating Progress: AI implementation across the SDGs	30

Sustainable Development Goal 1: No Poverty
Sustainable Development Goal 2: No Hunger
Sustainable Development Goal 3: Well-being
Sustainable Development Goal 4: Education
Sustainable Development Goal 5: Gender Equality
Sustainable Development Goal 6: Clean Water
Sustainable Development Goal 7: Affordable and Clean Energy
Sustainable Development Goal 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth 39
Sustainable Development Goal 9: Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure 40
Sustainable Development Goal 10: Reduced Inequalities
Sustainable Development Goal 11: Sustainable Cities and Communities 42
Sustainable Development Goal 12: Responsible Consumption and
Production43
Sustainable Development Goal 13: Climate Action
Sustainable Development Goal 14: Life Below Water45
Sustainable Development Goal 15: Life on Land
Sustainable Development Goal 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions 47
Sustainable Development Goal 17: Partnerships for the Goals
Conclusion
Glossary
Authors & Contributors

Executive Summary

Artificial intelligence (AI) holds great promise in accelerating the achievement of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Its rapid development is helping to reshape industries, economies, and societies around the world. Yet, its dual nature—offering both transformative potential and significant risks — requires careful consideration.

Al has demonstrated its ability to drive meaningful advancements in critical areas ranging from healthcare and education to climate change and accessibility. Today, Al is being used in nearly 400 projects across the UN system, spanning all 17 SDGs. However, achieving the SDGs by 2030 is currently off track. With the right approach, Al could be a key driver in getting back on track to meet these global objectives. This report outlines specific ways Al is already enabling effective progress for each of these global objectives, from reducing poverty to combating climate change.

Yet, the power of AI comes with considerable challenges. These include ethical concerns such as bias and privacy, social disruptions like mis-/disinformation and job displacement, exacerbating inequality (e.g. gender or urban V rural) and technical matters like data quality and interpretability. But these challenges can be overcome. By highlighting established and emerging good practices from around the world, innovative solutions and strategies are demonstrating that with concerted effort, AI can be developed and deployed in ways that are secure, equitable, and sustainable.

Key barriers to broader adoption globally include, but are not limited to, insufficient technical skills, the need for extensive upskilling and reskilling, and varying levels of trust in AI technologies. Despite these challenges, the potential benefits are substantial, from automating routine tasks to augmenting human capabilities. As the demand for technical skills evolves rapidly, AI literacy will remain essential but so will emotional intelligence, highlighting the need for a balanced and human approach to future skills development.

The global landscape for AI governance is swiftly advancing, with frameworks emerging and evolving to guide the development and deployment of AI systems. Central to these frameworks is a commitment to upholding ethical principles and human rights, ensuring transparency and accountability, and with built-in safeguards to prevent misuse, whether intentional or accidental. The path forward for global AI governance centers on the collective ability to create interoperable frameworks that strike a balance between regulation and innovation, thereby helping to ensure the safe, ethical, and beneficial advancement of AI technologies on a global scale.

Developing and deploying AI solutions that benefit society as a whole depends on robust collaboration among the public and private sectors and civil society. Ethical AI deployment is essential to help ensure these technologies advance sustainability, reduce inequalities, and enhance societal well-being while mitigating potential risks. International Telecommunication Union (ITU)'s AI for Good serves as a critical platform and resource hub for knowledge-sharing, innovation, and collaboration, ultimately helping to scale effective AI solutions globally. This Impact Report continues the conversation about how AI can be used for good, offering valuable insights into current trends and challenges with AI, and opportunities across the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Introduction

This AI for Good Impact Report provides an overview of AI trends, governance, and opportunities to support informed decision-making across sectors. It explores global AI regulation and frameworks showing different approaches to managing AI's risks and potential. The report outlines challenges associated with AI and its responsible integration, including established and emerging good practices from around the world.

The report also examines the role of AI in accelerating progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). For each SDG, this report provides insights into current progress and practical examples of the real-world impact of AI solutions on these global objectives. Additionally, the report offers recommendations for policymakers on leveraging AI to accelerate social progress, along with a glossary of commonly used terms in the AI space.

Designed for government officials, policymakers, NGOs, international development organizations (IDOs), and industry leaders, this report serves as a valuable tool to guide the adoption and scaling of ethical Al initiatives. It can help ensure initiatives align with sustainable development priorities while also offering recommendations for mitigating potential risks. Government officials and policymakers will find guidance on regulatory strategies, while NGOs and IDOs will benefit from insights on applying Al to their missions. Industry leaders can use this knowledge to align Al development with broader social impact goals.

Al and Generative Al Trends

This section provides an in-depth look at the evolving Al landscape, focusing on the latest Al and Generative Al (GenAl) trends. Drawing insights from across Deloitte's global network, it examines key Al innovations, evaluates the adoption of Al technologies across various industries and regions, and highlights the areas in which private sector companies are investing in Al and GenAl. It addresses the barriers to broader adoption and implementation as well as the sentiments at different organizational levels. Furthermore, it delves into the impact of Al and GenAl on the workforce, talent considerations, and the skills required now and in the future.

Artificial intelligence is everywhere

The term "artificial intelligence" (AI), coined almost seven decades ago, has garnered significant public attention in recent years due to its synergies with individuals, businesses, governments, and legislation.¹ However, a lack of consensus remains regarding its definition.² Public perception often alternates between utopian promises and dystopian visions of the future. Achieving a balance between innovation and control is crucial, highlighting the need for a fundamental understanding of AI to participate in discussions about the latest AI and GenAI trends.

The OECD defines AI as "a machine-based system that, for explicit or implicit objectives, infers, from the input it receives, how to generate outputs such as predictions, content, recommendations, or decisions that can influence physical or virtual environments. Different AI systems vary in autonomy and adaptiveness after deployment." However, this broad definition may not be precise enough for categorizing individual systems. As Stuart Russel, a renowned British computer scientist in the field of AI, notes: "It's surprisingly difficult to draw a hard and fast line and say [...] this piece of software is AI, and that piece of software isn't AI." This provides a general understanding of the systems discussed in this report. AI systems are increasingly integrated into everyday applications, spanning from voice-controlled virtual assistants and personalized online shopping experiences to healthcare monitoring and emergency response systems.

From a technical perspective, Al encompasses several key areas, each representing different stages and methodologies in its development. The first wave, symbolic AI,6 involves early techniques that rely on predefined rules and logic and understandable symbols, like words or numbers, to perform tasks such as reasoning, planning, and problem-solving. While no longer dominant in AI research, symbolic AI is evolving and being integrated into modern AI frameworks. It's still relevant in fields requiring transparency, reasoning, and structured knowledge such as medical diagnosis systems, robotics and natural language processing. The second wave, characterized by machine learning (ML) and data-driven AI, uses large datasets to train algorithms that can make predictions or decisions without explicit programming for each task. This has led to significant progress in fields such as image and speech recognition. For instance, AI-driven translation tools have evolved from rule-based systems to machine learning models that can translate text more accurately by learning from vast amounts of bilingual data.8

Understanding the link between AI, machine learning, deep learning, and GenAI is integral to understanding the evolution and capabilities of these technologies. AI serves as the overarching concept and category for the other terms. Machine learning (ML) refers to a subset of methods in AI that enable systems to learn from data and improve performance over time without being explicitly programmed, allowing them to find solutions to problems rather than following

predefined rules. Deep learning (DL) is a subset of ML that leverages artificial neural networks (ANNs) with multiple hidden layers - hence "deep" -, enabling the processing of complex data inputs such as images or speech. The newest and most widely recognized area of AI is called Generative AI (GenAI). It represents a specialized application of deep learning where ANNs can also generate realistic content. GenAI applications of today are based on foundation models. Foundation models are a class of AI models trained on broad datasets and are designed to be adaptable to a wide range of downstream tasks, such as image and video generation, image description, or translation. Most of these models are built on the transformer architecture, which has proven highly effective in natural language processing (NLP) tasks. The versatility of foundation models extends to various other domains or modalities, including computer vision, speech recognition, and even generative tasks, where they can produce new content.⁹

Since the public GenAl race began in November 2022 with the release of OpenAl's "ChatGPT", organizations have increasingly focused on using its potential. The ability to create new content, such as text, images, and videos, in response to user queries has made it popular in sectors like healthcare, finance, and entertainment. Numerous tools have demonstrated practical applications of GenAl, from simulating human conversations to aiding in software development and generating digital images from textual descriptions. While GenAl currently receives the most attention, other areas of Al are also being developed and finding their way into different applications.

Various industries are adopting AI technologies

For companies, Al adoption is increasingly vital, with 94% of global business leaders viewing Al as critical for their organization's success in the next five years. Notably, 67% of organizations are ramping up investments in GenAl due to its demonstrated value. Us Global Al market revenue is projected to grow by a 19% Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) over the next decade, surpassing US\$2 trillion by 2031. Ustomized Al technologies are already catering to the specific needs of various industries, with significant potential to drive positive impact in sectors such as healthcare, education, energy, agriculture, and finance. The following section provides a closer look at these industries, featuring typical use cases for illustrative purposes.

In **healthcare**, developments in AI and machine learning are driving innovation and transforming operating models by enabling personalized patient care, predictive analytics for disease prevention, and efficient management of healthcare resources.

In the long run, Al in healthcare is shifting the focus from treating diseases to early diagnosis and prevention. This shift is driven by advanced computing power and smart algorithms that can identify patterns in digital data and images, making diagnosis and treatment more data-driven. For example, a US-based medical imaging startup uses large learning models for early disease detection in stroke care, cardiology, and oncology. Similarly, another startup founded in Belgium, has developed an Al solution, using deep learning algorithms for early detection of traumatic brain injuries. In Singapore, a cloud-based platform for diagnosing retinal conditions such as diabetic retinopathy, macular degeneration, and glaucoma was deployed, which can help address the scarcity of eye specialists in rural areas. These advancements can help enable healthcare providers to identify diseases early, improving patient outcomes and reducing healthcare costs.

Al is significantly accelerating the drug discovery process by conducting numerous experiments and analyzing vast datasets to identify new medications.¹⁷ Pharmaceutical companies use Al to

conduct over 800,000 experiments weekly, combining high-throughput biology and automation with the latest advances in AI. Additionally, AI technologies such as deep learning and natural language processing are being used to detect patterns in genetic data, enabling precision medicine. For example, a South Korean company developed a targeted anti-cancer medication, using its AI platform. This platform employs machine learning and deep learning algorithms to detect patterns within extensive datasets for potential drug candidates, reducing the time and costs associated with drug development.¹⁸

All enhances clinical decision support systems, enabling healthcare professionals to make informed decisions based on comprehensive data analysis. For instance, a healthcare app from a major tech company uses Al solutions to empower physicians to make better clinical decisions by analyzing electronic health records, identifying patients who need early hospitalization or specific medication plans, thereby improving patient care and outcomes. Additionally, Alpowered systems analyze large volumes of data to detect early signs of diseases such as cancer and vascular diseases, providing valuable insights that aid in clinical decision-making. A Rwandan-based health tech company aids health care facilities in Rwanda and across East Africa in procuring essential medical supplies with its Al-driven medical procurement platform.¹⁹

The **education sector** is adopting AI to provide customized learning experiences, developing digital tutors for real-time feedback and support, as well as assessment tools to identify areas where students require additional assistance.²⁰ These AI-driven solutions aim to enhance the learning experience and improve educational outcomes.

This involves creating customized learning programs tailored to each student's needs, tracking their progress, diagnosing misconceptions, and offering timely guidance and feedback. For instance, machine learning capabilities embedded in online learning programs can alert teachers if a student misunderstands a particular concept, allowing for early intervention. This trend is supported by substantial investments, such as the US\$240 million from a well-known foundation for initiatives focused on developing software for personalized learning plans based on student performance, led mainly by private companies. ²¹

Intelligent Tutoring Systems (ITS) are one of the most widely used AI applications in education. These systems use AI and machine learning technologies to gather in-depth data on individual students, assess their progress, and offer feedback to promote productive learning behaviors such as self-regulation and self-monitoring. ITS are now commonly used in schools and colleges, particularly in the United States, to provide real-time feedback and support to students as they go through their coursework. This use of AI can also help to bridge the educational gap in developing countries. A pilot project in Rwanda used AI to help 90 high school students to enhance their math skills through personalized learning and practice exercises, complementing their regular lessons.²²

Al is also being used to develop assessment tools that help educators identify areas where students require additional support. Digital tutors powered by Al can provide real-time feedback and support, enhancing the learning experience. These tools are designed to offer personalized solutions and adapt to the individual needs of students, making education more efficient and effective. This trend reflects a broader move towards using Al to create more interactive and engaging educational technologies, including homework support systems, science simulations, virtual labs, educational games, and online courses.

A US-based start-up and winner of the AI for Good Innovation Factory competition at the 2024 AI for Good Global Summit in Geneva, uses an AI-powered generative metaverse gaming platform to transform education and continuous learning through immersive experiences. It aims to bridge gaps in the education system by using AI and machine learning to personalize learning experiences based on individual interests, delivering customized career-relevant educational pathways that inspire curiosity and drive skill development.

The **energy sector** is another area where AI is used to improve existing structures. While there is no doubt that AI consumes a lot of energy²³, it is also true that AI has the potential to manage and optimize the overall power consumption of whole regions.²⁴

Al can improve supply and demand forecasts, and understanding of when renewable electricity is available and needed is crucial for the next generation of electricity systems. By analyzing historical data, weather patterns, and market trends, Al can forecast energy consumption with high precision.²⁵ This capability is crucial in balancing energy supply and demand, reducing waste, and optimizing energy procurement strategies. These smart grids have high potential in regions like Latin America where improvements of technical and commercial energy loss levels and enhancements of reliability and quality of service are needed.²⁶

Al is instrumental in enhancing the efficiency of renewable energy sources like solar, wind, and hydroelectric power. Al-powered forecasting models can predict energy generation patterns, allowing for optimal energy storage and dispatch strategies. This is particularly beneficial for grid-scale energy storage systems, such as batteries and pumped-storage hydroelectricity, which can use Al-based optimization algorithms to maximize energy capture and storage. Al also is used to find new materials for photovoltaic systems that are considered more efficient than traditional ones.²⁷

In **agriculture**, Al is used to address food security challenges exacerbated by climate change by making real-time crop-placement decisions, monitoring crop health²⁸ and enhancing supply chain processes.

Al enhances the data systems necessary for improving agricultural sustainability. By using advanced analytical tools - such as remote sensing, satellite imaging, and earth observation systems - Al significantly boosts computing power, accuracy, cost-efficiency, and accessibility. These tools enable real-time analysis of critical factors like soil health, water availability, weather trends, and pest control, helping farmers make informed decisions. This capability is crucial in adapting to climate change disruptions that threaten agricultural productivity and, by extension, global food security. In India, Al-enabled water management leverages a network of experts and farmers to build scalable applications that improve agricultural decision-making. By analyzing large datasets, Al can provide personalized insights to farmers on optimal pesticide use, crop selection, and irrigation schedules. The collaboration between different organizations highlights the potential for Al to enhance water management practices, by fostering smarter, collective actions and more efficient resource use.²⁹

Furthermore, Al improves agrifood systems by optimizing land use, energy consumption, and supply chain efficiency. Al-driven insights allow for precise land use decisions by analyzing climate modelling, ecosystem data, and disaster risk maps to determine the most suitable crops and farming practices. Al also enhances supply chain processes by predicting market demand and preparing distribution networks for climate-related disruptions. This ensures that

food systems operate more efficiently and sustainably, minimizing food waste and reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

The **financial services** industry is experiencing substantial disruption due to Al as well. With its reliance on large volumes of data, Al is used to automate routine tasks, mitigate risks, prevent fraud, and generate new insights.

Al is playing a crucial role in fraud detection within the financial industry.³⁰ By analyzing large volumes of data, Al algorithms can identify potential fraud cases more efficiently and accurately than traditional methods. This capability is essential for mitigating risks and ensuring the security of financial transactions. Al tools are used to monitor transactions and recognize behavior patterns that could indicate fraudulent activity, thereby enhancing the effectiveness of financial crime prevention.

Al-driven tools like robo-advisors, digital wallets, and chatbots have the potential to democratize financial services by making them more accessible to underserved and previously unserved communities.³¹ These tools provide immediate support and guidance, enabling individuals in remote areas to manage their finances more effectively. One example is Mongolia, which is characterized by vast distances and a dispersed population. The government's proactive digital transformation efforts, including platforms and other Al-based initiatives, have significantly modernized the financial landscape, despite the traditionally slow adoption of digital experiences by banks. Key developments like a digital wallet, legislative support for investment banks, and partnerships with international fintech entities are driving financial inclusion and economic growth in Mongolia.³²

Regional Al adoption and investments vary

The introduction of and progress in AI in different industries varies considerably between regions, influenced by factors such as technological advancements, economic potential, and investment in AI research and development (R&D). Globally, the AI adoption rate in businesses (actively deploying and exploring AI in its business operations combined) stood at 82% in 2023, reflecting a widespread recognition of AI's potential to drive innovation and efficiency.³³ According to a report on global AI adoption, companies from the UAE, China, India, and Singapore are leading in actively deploying AI as part of their business operations with an adoption rate of more than 50%.³⁴ Leading industries for AI adoption include financial services, retail, professional services, and manufacturing. Experts agree that the economic impact of AI will be substantial, although there are many differing estimates of the exact figures. For example, experts expect GenAI alone to increase global GDP by 7% (or almost US\$7 trillion).³⁵

As stated, Al adoption is significantly linked to investment activities and available resources in different regions. Key players like the United States, China, and the United Kingdom are dominating Al investments, with other regions like the Middle East, Asia and parts of Europe showing significant growth and interest. The volume of investments in Al differs greatly per region, as the following sections show.

North America

• **United States**: The United States is the global leader in AI investment, with a total of US\$328.5 billion spent over the past five years.³⁶ Significant investments come from technology enterprises, which focus on integrating AI into various products.³⁷ The United States benefits from substantial private sector investments and venture capital, with a peak of US\$114 billion in venture capital funding in 2021.³⁸ Additionally, there are various government grants and incentives available to drive innovation in AI R&D.³⁹

Asia

- **China**: China ranks second globally in AI investments, with US\$132.7 billion spent from 2019 to 2023.⁴⁰ The country is focusing heavily on AI research, patents, and talent retention. By 2027, China plans to invest around US\$40 billion in AI.⁴¹
- **India**: India is a significant player in AI, with US\$16.1 billion invested over the past five years. ⁴² However, India faces challenges in scaling up its investments compared to the top global players due to administrative hurdles, talent shortage, and regulatory and policy inconsistencies, among others. ⁴³
- **Middle East**: The UAE and Saudi Arabia lead Al investments in the Middle East.⁴⁴ The UAE has formed partnerships with global tech enterprises and is heavily investing in Al to diversify its economy away from oil and gas.⁴⁵ Saudi Arabia plans to create a US\$40 billion Al fund, aiming to become a global leader in Al. The fund aims to finance start-ups in the field of Al technology, including chip manufacturers and the expensive, extensive data centers that are increasingly required to operate the next generation of computing. The funding of its own Al companies is also being considered.^{46,47}

Europe

- **United Kingdom**: The United Kingdom is the third-largest Al investor globally with US\$25.5 billion spent from 2019 to 2023.⁴⁸ Investment is concentrated in the prestigious universities, which poses challenges for regional equity.⁴⁹
- **Germany, France, Sweden**: Germany and France are also significant investors, with US\$14.3 billion and US\$10.2 billion spent on AI, respectively, over the past five years. Sweden saw the highest growth rate in AI investment, surging by 2310% over five years.⁵⁰

Africa

According to a report, over 2,400 companies in Africa specialize in AI, with 41% being startups. Over US\$2 billion has been invested in **promoting** AI activities across the continent. However, 63% of African AI startups are in the early and intermediate stages of growth (classified as beginners and experimenters), indicating that these investments may take time to produce tangible results.⁵¹ FAIR Forward, a public initiative in Germany, is dedicated to the open and sustainable development and application of artificial intelligence for partnering countries in Africa and Asia⁵². The program is currently collaborating with Ghana, Rwanda, South Africa, and Uganda. One of its primary goals is to enhance access to training data and AI technologies to drive local innovation in those countries.⁵³

Latin America

 Venture capital invested in AI startups in Latin America grew over the past years, raising the numbers from US\$29 million in 2019 to US\$202 million in 2022 but declining in 2023 to US\$110 million.⁵⁴

Following the overall trend, GenAl is a key driver for investments. In 2023, GenAl investment increased nearly eightfold from the previous year to reach US\$25.2 billion. This significant increase highlights the growing interest and confidence in generative Al technologies. Major players in the GenAl space reported substantial fundraising rounds, underscoring the sector's potential and attractiveness to investors. Despite an overall decline in Al private investment, GenAl managed to attract a significant portion of the funding, accounting for over a quarter of all Al-related private investments. The prominence of GenAl is further reflected in corporate activities and discussions. In 2022, GenAl was the most frequently cited theme in Fortune 500 earnings calls, appearing in 19.7% of all calls, a substantial increase from 0.31% in 2022. This surge in mentions indicates that companies are increasingly recognizing the importance and potential impact of GenAl on their operations and strategies.

Barriers to wider adoption of Al

The adoption of AI in organizations faces barriers beyond financial investments. Deloitte United States's Report on Generative AI in the Enterprise Q3 identifies the top global barriers as: worries about regulatory compliance (36%), lack of technical talent (31%), and difficulty managing risks (30%).⁵⁸ The report, based on a survey of around 2,000 business and technology leaders, reveals that while the excitement around GenAI remains high, there are challenges related to trust, workforce adaptation, and the need for tangible results that will be discussed in the following section.

Scaling GenAl from pilots and proofs of concept to large-scale deployment is a primary challenge. It involves coordinated efforts across strategy, process, people, data, and technology. Risk management, governance, workforce transformation, trust, and data management become even more critical during this phase. What worked well in the past might not be as effective with this new technology. The scaling phase is where potential benefits are converted into real-world value, but also where potential challenges become real-world barriers.⁵⁹

Legacy operational structures present a significant barrier to integrating GenAl effectively. These structures often do not support Al's dynamic needs, hindering collaboration and innovation. Fear of the unknown, reluctance to experiment with new technologies, and a tendency to maintain the status quo impede adoption. Ethical considerations and governance concerns also play a critical role. Clear guidelines and governance protocols are needed to ensure responsible use of GenAl. Leaders must address concerns, engage in open dialogues, and break down barriers of fear or misunderstanding to build trust and align the entire organization with the GenAl mission.⁶⁰

Trust is a significant barrier to large-scale GenAl adoption and deployment. Organizations need to build trust in the quality and reliability of GenAl's output, supported by improved transparency and explainability. Additionally, there is a need to build trust among workers that GenAl will make their jobs easier and not replace them. Many organizations measure worker trust and engagement as part of their talent strategies to address this matter. Greater exposure

to GenAl tools can help people become more comfortable with the technology and understand how it can benefit their work. 61

Workforce access to approved GenAl tools and applications remains low. Deloitte United States's Report on Al in the Enterprise found that nearly one in four surveyed organizations provided approved GenAl access to 20% or less of their workforce. Even among organizations with 'high' GenAl expertise, worker access to approved tools remains the exception rather than the rule. Description is the potential for GenAl outputs to be unpredictable and subject to inaccuracies, which can undermine trust.

Upskilling and reskilling the workforce is a critical barrier. Organizations need to redesign work processes and career paths to take full advantage of GenAI. This involves developing new roles, work processes, and an organizational culture that focuses on developing talent at all levels capable of using GenAI to its full advantage. Upskilling and reskilling are essential for capturing GenAI's full value and positioning workers for future success.⁶³

Barriers to scaling GenAl include the lack of centralization, the right data management, technology infrastructure, and governance to ensure high-quality inputs and verified, explainable outputs. Building trust through transparency, familiarity, technology, and guardrails is essential for fostering wider adoption.⁶⁴

Worker resistance due to a lack of familiarity, concerns about being replaced, and concerns about control over what GenAl applications are being used within the organization also pose significant barriers. While cautious initial use of GenAl tools makes sense, tight restrictions should be temporary, not long-term. Addressing these barriers is crucial to unlocking GenAl's full potential and driving substantial value creation.⁶⁵

As organizations scale their GenAl initiatives, they must address challenges such as data security, explainability of Al outputs, and workforce trust. Building a culture of curiosity and transparency, along with robust data management and governance, will be essential for realizing GenAl's full potential. Despite challenges, there is optimism regarding the potential of GenAl, with 82% of surveyed leaders stating that Al increases job satisfaction and enhances performance.

Promoting cross-organizational collaboration and establishing an AI center of Excellence (AI CoE) can fuel this optimism. An effective AI CoE embeds AI in the core business and strategy, focuses on observable business impact, provides a comprehensive view of the foundational technology stack in the data and analytics functions and monitors technology trends and competitor activities. Leaders need to shift from being mere observers to active participants and must actively promote and integrate GenAI into the organizational framework, creating trust and psychological safety at the highest levels of the organization. Leaders must visibly commit to the GenAI strategy, not just as a sign of approval but also to signal the organizational direction. Provides AI in the core business and strategy and strategy are provided as a comprehensive view of the foundational direction.

Al is transforming the workforce

Al, particularly GenAl, is reshaping the workforce by automating routine tasks, shifting job roles, and augmenting human abilities. Research from the International Labor Office (ILO) suggests that a maximum of 2.3% of global jobs could be fully automated, but this does not account for the new jobs created by this technology.⁷¹

For instance, a furniture store chain has implemented an AI bot named Billie to handle routine customer inquiries, which allows their call center agents to focus on more creative and human-centric tasks. 72 This highlights the need for organizations to invest in upskilling initiatives that enhance design skills and human connection, shifting the focus from procedural tasks to creativity and innovation. This approach not only increases efficiency but can also enrich workers' roles, make their jobs more fulfilling and aligned with their capabilities. 73

The rapid pace of technological change requires a new model where people and technology co-create new knowledge. This model demands deliberate scaling and development of human capabilities. Most executives agree, with 71% stating that their organization's plans for GenAl include using it to advance the human capabilities of their workers. This shift is essential as traditional strategies may only yield short-term gains, while the focus should be on creating value by integrating human and technological capabilities.

GenAl serves as a tool to augment human capabilities. This human-machine collaboration is expected to enhance productivity and innovation, creating value for both organizations and workers. Clear communication about Al's role as a complement, not a replacement, is crucial, along with responsible data practices to build trust and ensure positive impacts on performance and worker well-being. Organizations must also prioritize human-centric metrics, such as job satisfaction and well-being, alongside traditional business metrics, to create a balanced and sustainable work environment.⁷⁶

As roles become more dynamic, the workforce's required skills are evolving. Emotional intelligence, and divergent thinking - a thought process used to generate creative ideas by exploring many possible solutions - are becoming increasingly important as they help workers make judgments in the face of constantly changing data. Additionally, curiosity and resilience are critical skills that enable workers to explore, experiment, and play in safe digital environments. These skills help workers adapt to new technologies and work processes, fostering a culture of continuous learning and innovation. For example, a Japanese pharmaceutical company experimented with a four-day workweek to allow workers to gain experiences outside their jobs, hoping to infuse their digital upskilling and creativity into the business.⁷⁷

In today's workforce, collaboration and social intelligence are highly prized. As work becomes more collaborative, these skills can enable workers to interact effectively within and across teams, boosting overall productivity and innovation. Organizations are increasingly investing in empathy-related training and development, recognizing the importance of these human capabilities. For example, a major hotel chain used virtual reality to help workers better empathize with tired and frustrated travelers. Such development activities often involve placing workers in unfamiliar situations or allowing them to observe and practice empathetic responses, thereby enhancing their ability to collaborate and innovate.⁷⁸

While human capabilities are important, technical skills and Al literacy are crucial. Workers must understand and use Al tools to enhance their work, as the workforce's required skills evolve in response to GenAl integration. Technical skills such as Al tool management, data analytics, and predictive analytics are becoming increasingly important. Professionals need to be proficient in using Al tools, validating Al outputs, and understanding the nuances of large language models (LLMs) and image processing. Continuous learning and upskilling are pivotal, as workers need to adapt to ever-evolving Al technologies. Human-centric skills, including emotional intelligence, critical thinking, problem-solving, and strategic thinking, are also essential for navigating complex problems and leading teams through technological transitions. Adaptability

Al for Good

and flexibility are crucial, as roles and tasks are likely to change rapidly with AI advancements.⁷⁹ However, many organizations currently do not provide adequate AI-related skills training, despite the shrinking half-life of skills. Workers need strategies to practice adapting to a range of possible futures, building organizational resilience and improving worker well-being and mental health. Organizations must invest in upskilling initiatives and create environments that promote continuous learning and experimentation to prepare workers for the future.⁸⁰

Janine Berg, Senior Economist at the ILO, emphasizes the importance of social dialogue between employers, workers, and their representatives regarding the potential impact of technology, including AI, on the workplace and the labor market. This dialogue is crucial for developing qualification programs to train workers for new career opportunities.⁸¹ Creating relationships with workers based on trust, transparency, and sharing benefits broadly across the enterprise and beyond will also help to pave the way to a quantified organization. A quantified organization takes a strategic approach to measuring what it should, not just what it can. It takes a responsible approach to using new data sources and AI tools to create value for stakeholders across the organization, improving workforce trust and driving the organization forward to new levels of financial, reputational, and operational performance.⁸²

Al and GenAl trends from industry adoption and regional differences, to the barriers of wider adoption and the impact on the workforce are complemented by rising activities within the regulatory and governance landscape. The next chapter will cover Al policies and strategies globally, regionally, and nationally.

Al regulations and the role of frameworks

This section explores the latest global developments in AI regulation, highlighting key policies, agreements, and regulatory bodies shaping AI platforms, tools, and technologies. While the EU AI Act stands as the first comprehensive AI legislation, we have provided a broader overview of how national and regional strategies are evolving worldwide.

It discusses the UN's role in international Al governance, focusing on its contributions to global policies and frameworks. This section analyzes governance aspects, including how ethical matters such as bias, transparency, accountability, and responsibility are being integrated into Al regulation across different regions.

Regulations and frameworks on different levels

All has evolved rapidly from a specialized technology to a key element of modern industry, governance, and society. It has created vast opportunities across sectors, impacting areas such as health care, finance, transportation, and education. All is now deeply integrated into systems that drive economies and address global challenges, outlined in the UN SDGs.

However, this rapid expansion of AI technology also brings significant risks. These include ethical concerns like algorithmic bias, which can perpetuate or even exacerbate existing inequalities, and privacy violations, where personal data might be misused. Additionally, AI can be weaponized by individuals or organizations, including through cyberthreats, in ways that harm public trust, such as through the creation of deepfakes. The potential misuse of AI by malicious actors or the unintended consequences of poorly designed systems necessitates a robust framework for governance.

In response to the opportunities presented by AI as well as the risks it poses, there have been comprehensive international developments aimed at establishing comprehensive AI governance frameworks. These developments encompass a wide array of initiatives, ranging from high-level strategic planning to the formulation of codes of conduct, and even the implementation of binding regulatory measures. These efforts are being undertaken across multiple levels of governance, including at the state level, on a regional level as well as on the global scale - reflecting the complex and interconnected nature of AI's impact on the world.

Today, Al governance is inherently a multi-layered effort, involving a diverse range of stakeholders who operate at these different levels. Each level of governance contributes uniquely to the overall framework, addressing specific aspects of Al development and deployment. At the global level, international organizations and coalitions work to set broad standards and foster international cooperation, facilitating a coordinated approach to managing Al's global implications.

The overarching goal of these multi-tiered frameworks is to strike a careful balance between fostering the innovation and investment that drive Al's growth and deploying these technologies in a responsible and ethical manner. Central to this objective is the implementation of safeguards designed to protect individuals, communities, and societies from the potential harm associated with Al. These safeguards aim to address a wide spectrum of concerns, from mitigating ethical matters such as bias and discrimination to protecting privacy and ensuring that Al systems are transparent and accountable in their operations.

As Al governance frameworks evolve, it is important for stakeholders to address key challenges that will enhance their effectiveness. While global convergence on Al governance could be one approach, the focus should be on creating adaptable frameworks that balance national and regional needs. Ensuring interoperability between systems is essential, as it will allow Al technologies to function seamlessly across borders and industries. Aligning governance strategies can deliver substantial benefits, including more effective Al regulation, enhanced innovation, and stronger protection of public interests. This challenge is further complicated by the need to coordinate frameworks such as policies or standards internationally and create shared agreements between countries worldwide. Despite the difficulties, such agreements are essential for creating a unified approach to Al governance that can address the technology's borderless nature. Indeed, the implications of Al often extend far beyond national boundaries, making robust international coordination a necessity. Without this coordination, efforts to govern Al could be undermined by jurisdictional inconsistencies and regulatory gaps. The borderless nature of Al demands an international approach, so no region or country is left out of the debate.

To effectively address these challenges, it is essential to explore the distinct layers and approaches that exist across various regulatory levels. By examining the different global, regional, and state-level efforts, we can better understand how these initiatives interact, overlap, and sometimes diverge. This will highlight how different frameworks can collectively contribute to a more cohesive global strategy, while also highlighting the unique contributions and challenges posed by each level of governance.

Al governance frameworks operate on global, regional, and state/national levels, each addressing different aspects of regulation and oversight. Global frameworks aim to set universal ethical standards that transcend borders, offering guidelines for responsible Al use and development worldwide. Regional frameworks, such as those implemented by specific groups of countries and jurisdictions, focus on harmonizing regulations within a certain geographic area, ensuring consistency and cohesion among member states. State or national frameworks are more specific, and tailored to the unique legal, cultural, and technological environments of individual countries, providing localized governance that aligns with broader regional and global standards. Each of these approaches plays a distinct role, contributing to a holistic approach that can accommodate the diverse needs and challenges of Al deployment worldwide.

Global level

In the rapidly evolving landscape of Al governance, international entities are adopting distinct strategies to address the ethical, regulatory, and safety challenges posed by Al technologies. The UN, the Group of Seven (G7), and the recent Al Safety Summits each bring unique approaches to shaping a global framework that balances innovation with responsibility.

The UN plays a critical role in international AI governance, actively promoting ethical standards, international cooperation, and discussions among member states to ensure that AI development aligns with human rights, peace, and the SDGs. The United Nations Secretary-General's Highlevel Advisory Body on Artificial Intelligence (HLAB-AI) released "Governing AI for Humanity" in September 2024,83 which serves as a strategic blueprint for addressing AI-related risks while realizing its transformative benefits globally. The report identified urgent needs for cohesive global governance to manage AI's rapid development, highlighting its impact on critical sectors like healthcare, energy, and public services.

The report stressed the concentration of AI regulation decision-making in wealthier nations, excluding many countries from vital discussions on AI governance. It calls for enhanced global cooperation to bridge this gap, helping to ensure a shared understanding of AI's potential risks and uncertainties, supported by unbiased, globally pooled specialist knowledge. One key recommendation is the establishment of a specialized AI office within the UN to serve as a central coordinating entity. The report also emphasized the need for a new social contract for AI, engaging governments, civil society, industry, and researchers to ensure AI serves as a force for good, promoting fair and positive outcomes for everyone.

The HLAB-Al's call aligns with the UN's broader efforts across multiple levels to tackle the ethical and practical challenges posed by Al technologies. For instance, UNESCO, as a specialized UN agency, has set global ethical guidelines for Al through its "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence". These guidelines outline principles that emphasize the importance of human rights, inclusivity, and environmental sustainability in Al development.

In addition to establishing ethical standards, the UN plays a crucial role in fostering international cooperation by providing platforms for countries, experts, and stakeholders to engage in dialogue about the challenges and opportunities presented by AI. These global discussions are essential for developing a cohesive international framework capable of addressing the inherently cross-border nature of AI technologies. The UN strategically aligns AI governance with its broader mission by emphasizing how AI can contribute to achieving the SDGs. It advocates for the responsible use of AI to address global challenges such as reducing poverty, enhancing education and healthcare, helping to ensure that AI technologies are developed and deployed in ways that support progress in these critical humanitarian areas.

Since 2017, the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) has led the "Al for Good" initiative. This program aims to harness the potential of Al in addressing global challenges, particularly those aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Al for Good serves as a collaborative platform that brings together Al innovators, experts, and stakeholders from diverse sectors, including governments, academia, industry, and civil society. Its primary objective is to facilitate the development and implementation of Al solutions that can have a positive impact on society, especially in areas such as healthcare, education, environmental and sustainability, and disaster response. The initiative hosts annual global summits where participants share insights, discuss ethical and technical challenges, and explore practical Al applications that can significantly enhance people's lives.

During the most recent summit in May 2024, the AI Governance Day featured discussions on the complex challenges posed by the rapid development and deployment of AI. This event brought together a diverse array of stakeholders, including policymakers, industry leaders, academics, and representatives from civil society, to engage in high-level discussions on the ethical, regulatory, and social implications of AI. These discussions underscored the challenge of implementing effective AI governance frameworks, particularly regarding compliance and enforcement, given the complex landscape of national and regional regulations. Achieving global consensus on AI governance is crucial yet challenging due to the intricacies of existing governance structures. The borderless nature of AI demands robust international coordination to address its wide-reaching implications. Central to these discussions was the establishment of trustworthy standards for AI, drawing on lessons from established models like telecommunications and postal services, with a focus on ethics, fairness, and transparency.⁸⁴ 85

Other approaches at the global level mostly focus on GenAl and its risks. In accordance, the G7 countries (Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States), and the EU as an observer have taken a proactive approach to establishing principles for Al governance through the G7 Code of Conduct (CoC). Moderated by the Japanese G7 presidency, the document is termed the "Hiroshima process." The G7 CoC is a voluntary framework that sets high expectations for the responsible development and deployment of Al technologies. Key components of the G7 CoC include encouraging transparency and accountability throughout the Al lifecycle, from development to deployment. The Code also promotes risk management strategies that anticipate and mitigate potential harms, such as biases in Al decision-making or vulnerabilities that could be exploited by cyberattacks. Furthermore, the Code touches upon themes such as incident reporting, watermarking, data privacy and intellectual property as well as common research and the development and use of international technical standards. While this allows for flexibility and innovation, it also relies heavily on the willingness of companies and governments to adopt and enforce these principles.

A series of "Al Safety Summits" were kicked off by the United Kingdom government in November 2023, hosting the Bletchley Park Summit. For the first time governments and companies on a global scale came together to discuss mitigating risks of AI technologies, specifically socalled frontier models, the most advanced and sophisticated AI models. Governments and Al companies recognized their shared responsibility in ensuring the safety of these models, particularly in areas critical to national security, societal well-being, and public safety. At the end of the Summit, 29 governments and international institutions signed the Bletchley Declaration. The declaration reinforces the global regulatory framework by addressing the safe use of Al. Moreover, it focuses on a set of concrete measures aimed at enhancing the safety and responsible development of frontier AI technologies. This approach emphasizes the shared responsibility between governments and AI model developers to ensure that these technologies are rigorously assessed for potential risks, particularly those that could impact national security, public safety, and societal well-being. In addition to safety testing, the declaration also calls for the development of shared international standards and best practices for Al governance. A further measure outlined in the declaration is the establishment of a collaborative framework for testing Al models both before and after deployment. The initiatives agreed upon at Bletchley Park, including the establishment of the United Kingdom's Al Safety Institute, 87 lay the groundwork for ongoing international collaboration in AI governance, ensuring that the development of AI technologies can proceed safely and responsibly. A further summit took place in the Republic of Korea in May 202488. Since then, other governments including the United States89, Canada90, Japan⁹¹, the Republic of Korea,⁹² and Singapore⁹³ have announced the establishment of Al Safety Institutes. In February 2025 France will be hosting the next session of the AI Safety summits coined the Al Action Summit.94

In 2023, the OECD revised its definition of AI systems to reflect the latest advancements in technology, providing a foundational framework that governments can use to legislate and regulate AI. This updated definition not only enables harmonization among national policies but also contributes to the development of cohesive global policy frameworks for AI.95 The EU AI Act - elaborated in the following sections - aligned its definition with the one drafted by the OECD.

These three approaches—the UN-led ethical frameworks, the G7's voluntary code of conduct, and the practical safety measures from the AI Safety Summits, accompanied by the OECD's definition of AI—demonstrate diverse yet complementary strategies for global AI governance.

The UN's work, supported by the ITU, focuses on embedding ethical considerations and fostering international collaboration, all while advancing the SDGs. The G7 emphasizes creating a flexible framework for transparency and accountability, while the Bletchley Declaration promotes cooperative safety measures for frontier AI technologies. Complementing these efforts, the OECD's 2023 definition of AI systems may provide a foundational framework that supports harmonization among national policies and contributes to the development of cohesive global AI governance.

Standard setting

The development of AI policies and regulations, including frameworks and the standardization of AI, are closely interconnected, with each process reinforcing and complementing the other. Standards provide the technical specifications and best practices that are crucial for the creation of robust regulatory and policy frameworks and a means of assuring that those regulatory requirements are being met. They lay the groundwork for ensuring interoperability between AI systems. Conversely, policy frameworks and regulations shape the evolution of these standards, ensuring that they adequately address legal, ethical, and societal concerns.

Given this concerted effort, it is essential to consider the technical foundations upon which AI standards are built. Several organizations are actively engaged in the development of AI standardization, working together to create comprehensive standards that span from broad ethical guidelines to specific technical requirements. These standards are designed to be applicable across a wide range of industries and technologies, ensuring that AI is implemented safely and effectively.

When discussing cooperation on AI standardization, the World Standards Cooperation (WSC) plays a pivotal role. The WSC is a collaborative initiative between the International Organization for Standardization (ISO)⁹⁶, the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC)⁹⁷, and the International Telecommunication Union (ITU). Its mission is to enhance the global framework for AI standards by advancing a consensus-based system that promotes the safe, responsible, and effective use of AI across industries through international cooperation. Central to the WSC's efforts is fostering collaboration among international stakeholders, sharing expertise, and shaping the future trajectory of AI governance. In line with these goals, the WSC recently issued a call for collaboration on AI standards through the AI for Good initiative, urging governments, industry, and other stakeholders to work together to establish robust standards for AI. Reflecting its commitment to AI governance, the WSC will host the AI for Good International AI Standards Summit in New Delhi, India, in October 2024. This summit will focus on multi-stakeholder cooperation to develop global standards for AI watermarking, multimedia authenticity, and deepfake detection technologies, further advancing the work of the WSC in these areas.

A key contributor to these efforts is the ITU, which has already published or is developing over 220 Al standards. These standards span a wide range of areas, providing essential guidelines and frameworks to ensure the safe and ethical deployment of Al technologies. The ITU's standards work includes pre-standardization Focus Groups on topics like Al and Health (in collaboration with World Health Organization), Al and Autonomous and Assisted Driving, Al and Environmental Efficiency, Al and Natural Disaster Management (with World Meteorological Organization and United Nations Environment Programme), Al and 5G, Al and Internet of Things (IoT) for Digital Agriculture (with Food and Agriculture Organization), and the Al for Road Safety Initiative.

The objectives of the WSC standards collaboration include providing a global platform for dialogue on priority areas and technical standards for AI watermarking, multimedia authenticity, and deepfake detection technologies. It aims to map the existing landscape of standards in these fields and explore how they align with policy and regulatory requirements for governments, ensuring transparency and compliance with legal obligations, such as privacy protection, consumer rights, and intellectual property rights. The collaboration also seeks to facilitate the sharing of knowledge and lessons learned from diverse stakeholders, promoting the dissemination of emerging standards and technologies that address the challenges posed by deepfakes and the authentication of GenAI content. Furthermore, it aims to identify gaps in current standards and develop new standards as necessary, given the rapidly evolving nature of GenAI and deepfake technologies.

Furthermore, ISO has established a series of standards that provide guidelines, frameworks, and best practices for the development, deployment, and use of AI technologies. These standards are intended to foster the safe, ethical, and effective application of AI across diverse industries. A notable example is the ISO/IEC 22989:2022⁹⁸ standard, which is foundational in the AI field. It provides a unified and consistent understanding of AI concepts and terminology by establishing a specialized vocabulary that serves as the basis for related standards.

In addition, the IEC plays a significant role, particularly in the integration of AI with electrotechnical systems. Through the ISO/IEC Joint Technical Committee 1 (JTC 1),⁹⁹ the ISO and IEC collaborate to develop critical standards for AI technologies. This joint effort encompasses both broad and technical aspects, facilitating the seamless incorporation of AI systems. The International Telecommunication Union (ITU) also contributes to AI standardization, particularly in the context of telecommunications and information and communication technologies (ICT). For example, ITU-T Y.3172¹⁰⁰ outlines how AI can enhance network performance, manage resources, and optimize services, reflecting the ITU's commitment to using AI for improved telecommunication networks.

To ensure compliance and address complex matters such as bias, detailed definitions and catalogues are necessary. In the medical field, efficacy is established through rigorous trials—a stringent approach that could similarly be applied to AI systems. Moreover, AI governance standards should be rooted in a human-centric approach that prioritizes ethical considerations over mere effectiveness, ensuring that human rights and broader ethical implications remain central to AI development and deployment.

European Union

On a regional level, the European Union (EU) AI Act is the most notable approach to regulating AI - it is the first comprehensive AI regulation. It entered into force on 1 August 2024 and is now applicable across all 27 member states of the European Union with significant extra-territorial reach for AI providers that offer their products or services on the EU market.

Infobox: The European Union AI Act in a nutshell

The development of the EU AI Act has been a carefully orchestrated process, beginning with the formation of a 'High-Level Expert Group on AI' by the European Commission. This group was tasked with drafting policy recommendations focused on advancing trustworthy AI. Following these initial efforts, the **European Commission** released its European approach to AI in February 2020 and subsequently presented the first proposal for the EU AI Act in April 2021. The AI Act represents the result of a five-year political process aimed at balancing innovation with the need for secure and reliable AI systems. Its primary objective is to enhance the functioning of the single market concerning AI products and services, while also promoting a human-centric approach to AI development and deployment, putting the protection of EU citizens at the forefront of this regulation. The Act applies to a broad range of stakeholders, including providers, deployers, importers, and distributors of AI systems within the EU, as well as non-EU entities whose AI systems are used within the EU. This approach reflects the regulatory framework seen in the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), emphasizing the importance of safety and innovation in equal measure.

The EU AI Act establishes a comprehensive framework for regulating the deployment and use of AI within the EU, creating a standardized process for the market entry and operational activation of AI systems. This framework drives a harmonized approach across all EU Member States. Serving as a product safety regulation, the Act employs a risk-based classification system, categorizing AI systems based on their use cases and assigning compliance requirements according to the level of risk they pose to users. This includes prohibiting certain AI applications deemed unethical or harmful, as well as imposing stringent requirements on high-risk AI applications to effectively manage potential threats. Additionally, the Act sets out transparency obligations for AI technologies associated with various risks, ensuring that the regulation remains adaptable to future developments in AI technology.

Given the widespread adoption of general-purpose AI technologies, the Act distinguishes between single-purpose AI, designed for specific tasks, and general-purpose AI, which can perform a wide range of functions. Regardless of the risk associated with specific use cases, the AI Act establishes comprehensive rules governing the market entry, oversight, and enforcement of general-purpose AI models, to establish public trust and the integrity of AI innovations.

To support the implementation of the AI Act, a new governance structure has been established at both the EU and Member State levels. At the EU level, the European Commission created the European AI Office in February 2023 to oversee the Act's implementation. The AI Office will be responsible for enforcing obligations related to general-purpose AI models. This includes developing tools, methodologies, and benchmarks in collaboration with academia and industry to evaluate these models and identify those with systemic risks. Furthermore, the AI Office will also be responsible for developing implementing guidelines regarding the EU AI Act through delegated and implementing acts for all providers and deployers in scope, such as defining criteria for high-risk AI systems and overseeing conformity assessments.

Infobox: The European Union AI Act in a nutshell (Continued)

At the national level, Member States are required to designate supervisory authorities to enforce the AI Act's obligations concerning AI systems. These supervisory authorities will ensure that AI systems comply with the established standards and regulations. For instance, they will oversee the accuracy of conformity assessments conducted by providers of high-risk AI systems to ensure these systems meet specific standards, regulations, or requirements. During investigations, market surveillance authorities will have the authority to access necessary documentation, including training, validation, and testing datasets used in the development of high-risk AI systems, as well as the source code of such systems. Providers of high-risk AI are obligated to cooperate fully with these authorities, ensuring that AI technologies adhere to the rigorous standards set forth by the EU AI Act.

The Council of Europe, an international organization established in 1949 to promote human rights, democracy, and the rule of law across Europe, currently includes 46 member states, extending beyond the European Union's 27 Member States. In the context of global Al frameworks, the Council of Europe has taken a leading role by adopting the first-ever legally binding international treaty on Al in May 2024: the "Framework Convention on artificial intelligence and human rights, democracy, and the rule of law." ¹⁰¹ The Framework Convention applies to the entire lifecycle of Al systems utilized by both private entities and public authorities, with a clear focus on aligning Al with core human rights principles and democratic values. Its primary goal is to ensure that Al systems are developed, designed, and deployed in accordance with existing international standards and European values while addressing potential legal gaps arising from rapid technological advancements.

Unlike the EU AI Act, the Framework Convention is technology-neutral, meaning it does not regulate specific AI technologies but instead mandates adherence to overarching principles that prioritize a human rights-centered approach.. It also imposes procedural safeguards, guaranteeing the protection of individuals impacted by AI systems. This includes the right to access sufficient information to challenge decisions made or heavily influenced by AI, as well as ensuring transparency in interactions with AI systems themselves. Furthermore, the Framework Convention mandates the right to lodge complaints with relevant authorities and emphasizes the importance of conducting risk and impact assessments to mitigate potential threats to human rights, democracy, and the rule of law. Importantly, it allows authorities to impose bans or moratoria on certain high-risk AI applications when necessary.

In September 2024, the Council of Europe opened the treaty for signature to other states and organizations. The Framework Convention has since been signed by Andorra, Georgia, Iceland, Norway, the Republic of Moldova, San Marino, the United Kingdom, as well as Israel, the United States and the EU. Its broader human rights focus complements the EU's AI Act, providing a shared ethical and legal foundation upon which further AI regulation within the EU and other jurisdictions can be built.

To allow organizations within its scope sufficient time to meet the requirements of the EU AI Act, the full application of the Act is scheduled for August 2027, with a few minor exceptions extending to 2030. Due to the Act's extraterritorial reach, AI providers based outside the EU will also need to comply with these rules if they offer their products or services in the EU market. It

is anticipated that this could lead to another "Brussels effect," similar to the impact seen with the GDPR. Therefore, while the EU AI Act will have a global impact on businesses, it is also likely that some governments will incorporate elements of the EU's law into their legislation. Key aspects of the EU AI Act that may be adopted by other countries or regions include the risk-based approach to AI applications, the protection of citizens, obligations for general-purpose AI, as well as transparency and cybersecurity measures. Ultimately, in the context of the Act's extended timeline for full applicability, there is potential for regulatory "cherry-picking" by other governments. As the EU demonstrates its capacity to implement successful AI governance, other nations might selectively adopt certain provisions that align with their domestic priorities while bypassing others. This selective adoption could be influenced by the demonstrated effectiveness of the EU's implementation. As a result, while the EU AI Act sets a comprehensive framework, its influence may lead to a varied global regulatory landscape where different governments tailor their AI governance frameworks by integrating specific elements of the EU's model.

National level

Additionally, many governments have started to develop ethical frameworks to address these matters. These approaches range from regulations, to codes of conduct or AI strategies. Efforts are diverse yet share common goals of ensuring ethical use and mitigating risks. Across these diverse approaches, there is a clear consensus on the need for frameworks that ensure AI systems operate transparently, fairly, and responsibly. These regulations and strategies collectively reflect a global commitment to addressing the ethical and societal impacts of AI, aiming to foster technology that aligns with core values of human rights and public trust.

However, the implementation of these frameworks is often inconsistent and varies greatly between countries. For instance, while some countries like Singapore¹⁰² and the United Kingdom¹⁰³ have developed comprehensive ethical frameworks for AI, others are still in the early stages of this process. Even when ethical frameworks exist, there can be challenges in enforcing them and ensuring compliance.

China's regulatory landscape reflects a focus on comprehensive oversight and national security, particularly in ensuring the safe use of Al. This focus is underscored by China's recent framework addressing the security governance of Al. ¹⁰⁴ The framework is designed to ensure that Al systems are adaptable and flexible, capable of effectively responding to evolving environments while maintaining stringent safety standards. It also advocates for a proactive approach to secure and responsible Al development, prioritizing the identification and management of Al-related risks through robust technical measures. Further key regulations, such as the Personal Information Protection Law (2021)¹⁰⁵ and the Data Security Law (2021), ¹⁰⁶ emphasize informed consent, data protection, and algorithmic fairness. Furthermore, recent regulations like the Gen Al Regulation (2023)¹⁰⁷ specifically address the challenges posed by GenAl technologies.

In Canada, the emphasis is on transparency and accountability in Al systems. The Directive on Automated Decision-Making (2019)¹⁰⁸ and the draft Artificial Intelligence and Data Act (2022)¹⁰⁹ are designed to ensure that Al technologies are developed and deployed responsibly, with a focus on managing risks and maintaining fairness and include provisions for transparency, accountability, and the protection of privacy.

Around the world, numerous countries are actively developing and implementing Al strategies to address the ethical, societal, and regulatory challenges posed by these technologies. According to the OECD,¹¹⁰ by 2021, 70 states, including many countries of the Global South, had already

published AI strategies or guidelines, reflecting a widespread and growing commitment to shaping the future of AI in ways that align with core values of human rights, transparency, and public trust.

The AI for Good Governance Day report also includes a list of major multilateral and national initiatives as of the end of May 2024.¹¹¹

Common themes of AI governance frameworks

A closer examination of existing AI frameworks reveals that, despite differences in their specific legal (regulation or codes of conduct) and cultural contexts, they share several overarching themes. These commonalities reflect the shared concerns and objectives in the governance of AI.

Ethical principles and human rights

Central to these frameworks is a commitment to ensuring that AI systems are developed and deployed in ways that uphold fundamental ethical principles and human rights. This commitment is reflected in documents such as UNESCO's Recommendation on the Ethics of AI or the EU AI Act, both of which emphasize the critical importance of protecting human dignity, privacy, and freedom amid the rapid advancement of AI technologies.

Safeguards

Safety considerations are paramount, reflecting widespread concern over the potential risks inherent in AI technologies. Ensuring the robust and secure operation of AI systems is a top priority, particularly in high-stakes environments such as health care, transportation, and critical infrastructure. Regulatory frameworks increasingly demand that AI systems be designed with built-in safeguards to prevent misuse, whether intentional or accidental. This includes measures to protect against vulnerabilities that could be exploited by malicious actors, as well as protocols to ensure that AI systems can respond effectively to unforeseen challenges or errors. Additionally, there is a strong focus on establishing rigorous testing and validation processes, both before and after deployment, to verify that AI systems perform reliably and do not pose undue risks to public safety. The overarching goal is to create AI systems that not only advance innovation but do so in a manner that prioritizes the well-being and security of individuals and society.

Transparency and Accountability

Another central theme in Al governance is the emphasis on transparency and accountability within Al systems. Across various regulations, there is a clear requirement that Al processes must be explainable, ensuring that stakeholders understand how decisions are made and that the output is comprehendable. Moreover, those responsible for deploying Al systems are expected to be accountable for their outcomes, reinforcing the importance of ethical Al usage. Data protection and privacy also emerge as critical concerns, highlighting the widespread recognition of the sensitive nature of the data that powers Al systems.

At the same time, there is a shared commitment to fostering innovation and economic growth, with many frameworks striving to balance regulatory needs with the imperative to support technological progress. Objectives such as ethical principles, transparency, accountability, data protection, and safety are closely aligned with the UN SDGs.

Interoperability and Technical Standards: The Foundation for Global Al Governance

As AI continues to evolve at an unprecedented pace, the need for a cohesive and unified global governance framework becomes increasingly urgent. Various approaches – ranging from the UN's ethical guidelines, the G7's voluntary code of conduct, the practical safety measures initiated at the AI Safety Summits, and the OECD's definition of AI as well as the work by the standard-setting bodies – provide a foundation. However, the future of AI governance will largely hinge on the ability to ensure interoperability across these frameworks. The development of AI policies, including the creation of frameworks and the standardization of AI, are deeply interconnected, with each process reinforcing and complementing the other. Technical standards provide the essential specifications and best practices that form the backbone of robust regulatory and policy frameworks.

Interoperability refers to the capacity of different Al governance frameworks to work together seamlessly, despite diverse legal, cultural, and technical contexts. This is critical for several reasons. First, it enables the sharing of best practices, technical standards, and ethical guidelines, fostering a collaborative approach that includes all stakeholders – governments, industry, civil society, and international organizations. Therefore, the application of technical standards is vital for the safe application of Al. Learning from past standard-setting experiences, such as those in telecommunications and postal services, can be highly beneficial. These models were founded on values like fair market practices, competition principles, trust, and transparency – values that are equally vital in Al governance. However, standards must be trustworthy and not rushed to maintain their credibility. This requires detailed definitions and catalogues, particularly for complex challenges like bias, to ensure effective compliance checking.

Second, interoperability allows for consistency in applying AI regulations across jurisdictions, reducing the complexity and costs for internationally active organizations and businesses. Interoperability is moreover about fostering a shared understanding and commitment among global actors. This is where the work of the UN and its agencies, such as ITU or UNESCO, becomes vital. The UN's emphasis on ethical principles, human rights, and inclusivity ensures that the global governance of AI is rooted in values that transcend borders. The success of these and future initiatives will depend on the ability of the global community to work together, build bridges between different regulatory approaches and ensure that AI governance frameworks are not only compatible but also complementary.

Implementing AI governance frameworks is a global challenge that spans multiple sectors as well as the entire AI supply chain. Striving for as much global consensus as possible is important for effective governance, yet the complexity of national and regional regulations or guidelines makes political solutions at the global level both challenging and crucial. AI governance must address the borderless implications of the technology, requiring robust international coordination. While governance frameworks must not stifle innovation, it is equally important that competition between companies and countries does not undermine the integrity of these frameworks. Practical steps toward achieving interoperability include the development of AI Safety Institutes that are aligned to the same set of standards and principles as well as conducting rigorous testing and sharing the outcomes of that testing to increase public trust, ensuring that AI models meet international benchmarks for safety and ethics. These institutes should collaborate globally to share insights and harmonize their approaches, thereby reducing redundancy and enhancing the effectiveness of governance efforts.

How organizations implement AI regulatory frameworks

In this context, the organizational side must be considered alongside the governance perspective. Companies, and other entities subject to these regulations must also prepare for compliance by investing in organizational AI readiness. While regulatory requirements can be seen as helpful in the implementation of AI use cases as they provide a general framework, organizations often face the question of concrete operationalization. What does a regulation mean in daily practice? Where does it apply? Who is affected? In the case of AI in particular, robust governance is essential, as it is used in many different areas of a company and can have different impacts on stakeholders, processes, and finances. To build AI governance, digital ethics has proven its value in implementing both ethical and regulatory requirements into operative processes. As a systematic, multifaceted approach to examining digital solutions from an ethical perspective, digital ethics plays a critical role in establishing effective governance for responsible AI and digital practices.

Providing digital-ethical frameworks can enable organizations to define clear responsibilities, roles, and processes, helping to create a secure environment for employees and ensure they can navigate the rapidly changing landscape with confidence. Moreover, digital ethics fosters a culture where the use of Al applications is seen as a trusted asset that promotes innovation. Operationalizing digital ethics in organizations involves several critical steps and approaches to ensure that ethical principles are effectively integrated into business practices. The first step is to create a suitable entry point by developing digital ethical guidelines tailored to the specific industry and organizational values. These guidelines serve as a commitment tool for employees and a demonstration of principles to external stakeholders. The process also includes conducting a digital ethics status quo and maturity analysis to identify current ethical risks and challenges and evaluating the organization's maturity in handling digital ethical matters.¹¹²

Bridging the gap between principles and practice is the next step. This involves translating value-derived requirements into guiding principles and governance processes for AI projects. These principles impact operationalization by shaping corporate culture and internal communication. To manage digital ethical risks effectively, organizations need to define clear roles, decision-making powers, and responsibilities, which facilitate faster and more reliable decision-making. This structured approach ensures that digital ethics are embedded at the governance level, providing employees with a sense of security and guiding them in their daily operations.

In another step, effective operationalization requires ensuring employee commitment. This involves regular and targeted training to spread digital ethics guidelines across the organization, enabling employees to incorporate ethical principles into their everyday operations. Assigning roles and responsibilities, along with allocating adequate resources, are the crucial last step for implementing digital ethics actions across all levels and departmental silos. In conclusion, a unified approach to digital ethics aligns with the organization's overarching vision and mission, making it an integral part of organizational culture and identity. This holistic approach transforms regulations from a restrictive factor to an enabling mechanism, fostering customer and stakeholder trust and positioning organizations to navigate the complexities of the digital world successfully.

The goal of the AI frameworks is to address global challenges like inequality, climate change, and peace, which are inherently supported by frameworks that prioritize ethical AI development. By ensuring that AI systems respect human rights and dignity, these frameworks for example contribute to the achievement of SDG 16, which promotes just, peaceful, and inclusive societies.

Al for Good

The focus on transparency and accountability in Al governance further supports various SDGs by encouraging strong, accountable institutions. Additionally, the emphasis on protecting data privacy and ensuring safety within Al systems aligns with several SDGs, particularly those related to reducing inequality and promoting innovation. In this way, the goals of Al governance and the SDGs are intertwined, with both striving to create a more equitable and secure world through responsible technological development.

The path forward for global AI governance lies in our collective ability to create interoperable frameworks, based on technical standards, that balance regulation with innovation. By embracing interoperability, the international community can ensure that AI technologies are developed and deployed in ways that are safe, ethical, and beneficial to all. As we continue to navigate the challenges and opportunities presented by AI, interoperability will be the key to building a cohesive, global governance framework that supports the responsible advancement of this transformative technology.

Addressing Al's challenges

Al's development and implementation bring a range of social, environmental, or technical challenges, such as data privacy concerns and the significant energy consumption required to support Al systems. These challenges are closely tied to the evolving nature of technology, making it critical for policymakers to develop effective, forward-thinking legislation. This section aims to identify key risks associated with Al and present solutions to address them. For each challenge, the report will provide a clear, high-level overview, followed by examples of governmental or intergovernmental initiatives that offer either current or established practices or emerging approaches to managing these risks.

Policy and Governance

Focus area: Data Privacy and Security

Data privacy and security are critical challenges in the rapidly advancing field of AI with 80% of data experts surveyed saying that AI is making data security more challenging. AI tools use vast amounts of data from various sources to train and learn from, often personal data, and there is a risk that personal data could be integrated into the model and shared with other users. Additionally, AI models can be tampered with and could therefore provide access to the content and the personal data of end users.

Data privacy and security are pivotal to ensure that the technology is designed with minimal risks of data breaches. Governments have a role to play in requiring companies to integrate the principle of privacy by design into AI systems or to reduce the holding of unnecessary data. The following approaches are examples of such practices being used by governments:

Established practice: Generation Data Protection Regulation of the European Union

The European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) has set a global standard for data privacy and security. One of its key principles is privacy by design, which requires organizations to integrate data protection into the development of their products and services from the very beginning. Additionally, under GDPR, organizations must practice data minimization, meaning they should collect and process only the personal data that is necessary for a specific purpose. This reduces the amount of data at risk if a breach occurs and lowers the chances of data misuse.

While GDPR was not designed solely for AI, many of the principles mentioned above are still relevant for this technology. 116 Yet, those principles may conflict with the nature of AI as it requires large data quantity to be trained. Hence, in the implementation of the requirements, specific AI aspects should be considered. For data minimization, this could mean removing any personal aspects from the data or for data holding this could require the reuse of data in a way that is not incompatible with the way the data was initially sourced. Adapting GDPR practices to the specificities of AI is valuable as GDPR has led to important benefits towards governance, monitoring and decision-making for personal data. 117

Emerging practice: California Consumer Privacy Act of the State of California, United States

The California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), enacted in 2018, aims to enhance privacy rights and consumer protection.¹¹⁸ CCPA provides California residents with the ability to control how

businesses process their personal information. California residents can request to access, delete, and opt out of sharing or selling their information.

For AI, this could mean that users are informed on how their data is being used to train the AI model and are given the right to remove such data from the model. 119 While GDPR mandates organizational measures such as privacy by design, the CCPA is more focused on granting consumer rights to their data.

Economic Impact

Focus Area: Job Displacement & Education

As AI evolves, its impact on employment and education is becoming increasingly significant. AI can allow workers to focus on tasks with higher value. Additionally, it can also disrupt some industries by automating tasks and reducing the need for human involvement. Accommodating for this transition will require retraining of workers and rethinking education in general. Finally, while AI has important implications for employment and education, the opposite is also true. The AI transition will require a transformation of the workforce with the development of new skills and habits.

Those changes are prompting governments around the world to develop policies that address both the opportunities and challenges posed by this transformative technology.

Established practice: China's Next Generation Artificial Intelligence Development Plan

China's Next Generation Artificial Intelligence Development Plan, launched in 2017, underscores the country's ambition to become a global leader in AI by 2030.¹²⁰ Recognizing the potential societal impacts of AI, the AI Development Plan includes initiatives focusing on workforce retraining to support the AI transition. In line with this, the government has invested in various initiatives designed to equip workers with the skills needed to thrive in an AI-driven economy. The government is also focusing on providing a new AI-driven curriculum that will consider collaboration between AI and various research topics.

Additionally, the potential of AI to automate the least interesting aspects of certain jobs is also mentioned as a key value-add from the technology. The aim is to use AI to support the development of high-quality jobs while making sure that those new jobs can also support the AI transition.

Emerging practice: India's "Responsible AI for Youth" program

India's "Responsible AI for Youth" program, launched in 2020, takes an inclusive approach to AI education by focusing on younger generations and underserved communities. ¹²¹ Unlike many traditional policies that prioritize higher education and advanced technical training, this initiative aims to explain AI and introduce foundational skills to school students, particularly those in rural and economically disadvantaged regions.

Recognizing the importance of preparing the youth for the technological forces that are shaping the future of work, this initiative seeks to foster an early interest in technology and innovation, equipping students with the necessary skills and knowledge to pursue further education and careers in Al-related fields. This program is targeted at students from the ages of 8 to 12 across all government districts. Additionally, the vision of the program is to make sure that all young

people in India can "become human-centric designers who can create real AI solutions to solve economic and social impact issues of India." This would help India benefit from the technology to drive its own economy and social agenda.

Focus Area: Research and Development

As stated in the previous section, regional Al adoption and investments vary, with billions being invested in Al solutions worldwide. However, the financial aspect must be viewed comprehensively to prevent any adverse effects. First, the investment in Al research and development must balance resources with other critical areas of the economy. Second, most of the Al investment is provided for use cases with a commercial angle, and the social or environmental potential of use cases is not always prioritized over the economic impact.¹²²

One governmental approach is to establish clear investment guidelines and policies that prioritize funding for AI projects with broad societal or environmental impact. This requires a concerted effort from the public and private sectors to create collaborative funding models, where investments are co-financed by government grants, private capital, and international organizations, ensuring a balanced allocation of resources.

Established practice: Japan, Al Technology Strategy

Japan is a leader in the AI domain with its "AI Technology Strategy," which forms a crucial component of the broader "Society 5.0" initiative.¹²³ This policy aims to harness the potential of AI to address a range of pressing societal challenges, including an ageing population, labor shortages, and the need to boost economic productivity.

To enable AI to transform society, the importance of research and development is directly addressed. Research on the technology is being supported by the government and various research initiatives focused on education or human resources are directly driven by the government. Additionally, the importance of private companies in promoting R&D is recognized and to support them in this endeavor, the government has designated having access to the right infrastructures as one of their initiative's pillars. Finally, as AI influences various research themes, the document suggests pursuing synergies between private and public actors to make sure that the research can be developed in collaboration.

Emerging practice: Estonia KrattAl Strategy

Estonia, a country known for its digital innovation, has taken a bold and innovative approach to Al integration with its "KrattAl Strategy." This policy represents a pioneering effort to embed Al into the fabric of public services, aiming to make government operations more efficient, accessible, and responsive to citizens' needs. The national Al strategy relies on four pillars: boosting Al in the government, Al in the economy, skills along with R&D, and the legal environment. 125

To support the development of this vision, the government aims to invest around €10 million for the implementation of 50 proposed use cases. This money will support the private sector to conduct research and deployment for those use cases in line with the needs of the government and public services. This strategy enables the research of AI use cases in line with the needs of society and thus can help develop and deploy an AI landscape that drives societal benefits.

Societal Implications

Focus area: Ethical Considerations

The ethical challenges posed by AI are complex, requiring careful consideration to ensure that the technology is developed and deployed responsibly. 126 Key ethical matters include bias and lack of transparency or accountability. Examples of AI leading to negative social impact include biases in the hiring process that favor men over women, 127 more severe judgement of minorities, 128 or chatbots becoming sexist and/or racist. 129 However, an increasing number of advocates argue that, if implemented thoughtfully, AI has the potential to mitigate biases in human decision-making and promote ethical considerations. 130

Governments have a crucial responsibility to address these challenges by establishing and enforcing regulatory frameworks that set clear standards for the ethical use and deployment of AI.

Established practice: European Union's Ethics Guidelines for Trustworthy Al

The EU's "Ethics Guidelines for Trustworthy AI" stands out as the leading framework in addressing the ethical challenges of AI.¹³¹ The guidelines emphasize that AI should "ensure that the development, deployment and use of AI systems meet the seven key requirements for Trustworthy AI: Human agency and oversight, Technical robustness and safety, Privacy and data governance, Transparency, Diversity, non-discrimination and fairness, Environmental and societal well-being and Accountability."

The actionable nature of these guidelines is one of their strongest attributes. For instance, the guidelines suggest methods for ensuring transparency in AI algorithms, such as making decision-making processes understandable to non-experts and ensuring that AI systems can explain their outcomes in human terms. As a major regulatory power, the EU has a significant impact on global discussions about AI governance.

Emerging practice: UNESCO "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence"

The UNESCO "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence" states that "The protection of human rights and dignity is the cornerstone of the Recommendation, based on the advancement of fundamental principles such as transparency and fairness, always remembering the importance of human oversight of Al systems." 132

To support this, the text put forward a set of 10 principles: 1) Proportionality and Do no harm, 2) Safety and security, 3) Fairness and non-discrimination, 4) Sustainability, 5) Right to privacy and Data protection, 6) Human oversight and determination, 7) Transparency and explainability, 8) Responsibility and accountability, 9) Awareness and literacy, and 10) Multi-stakeholder and adaptive governance and collaboration. These principles are designed to establish a universal baseline for ethical AI, ensuring that all AI systems align with fundamental human rights and ethical standards. The UN principles are designed to be universally relevant. This broad scope makes them accessible to countries and organizations across different cultural, economic, and legal landscapes, including those that may not have the resources or expertise to develop their own detailed AI ethics frameworks.

Focus Area: Rising Inequalities

As AI continues to reshape industries and societies, ensuring that its benefits are distributed equitably across different demographics and regions has become a critical concern. The transformative potential of AI should not be reserved for the most privileged, but rather, it must help to reduce inequality and foster social equity. It is also important to make sure that the Global South can benefit from AI solutions in an equal manner to the Global North.

Governments should continue to find new development approaches that can include users from all backgrounds, as well as drive collaboration with other countries to share best practices or support where needed.

Established practice: FAIR Forward - Artificial Intelligence for All

Fair Forward is an initiative from the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development in Germany that is "dedicated to the open and sustainable development and application of artificial intelligence and particularly supports partnering countries in Africa and Asia".¹³⁴

This initiative focuses on three goals: 1) Strengthen local technical know-how on AI in Africa and Asia, 2) Improve access to training data and AI technologies for local innovation, and 3) Develop policy frameworks for ethical AI, data protection and privacy. FAIR Forward is already active in five countries. Ghana, Rwanda, South Africa, Uganda and India, and is supporting the fair development of AI in the Global South. One interesting use case is the development in Rwanda of open AI training data sets in the local language, Kinyarwanda, to make sure that AI-driven apps and solutions are accessible to all.

Emerging practice: Brazilian Artificial Intelligence Strategy

Brazilian Artificial Intelligence Strategy (EBIA), launched in 2021, represents an innovative approach to integrating human-centered values and fairness into the national AI agenda.¹³⁵ This strategy is particularly focused on addressing social inequalities through the responsible development and deployment of AI technologies. The EBIA's ethics guidelines are designed to ensure that AI systems do not reinforce existing social disparities but instead contribute to greater inclusivity and fairness.

The EBIA recommends implementing a national framework for AI ethics, incorporating review mechanisms for AI usage by both private and public entities. Additionally, it proposes integrating features in AI public solutions to mitigate bias risks, such as setting a false positive threshold for face recognition to minimize identification biases. Furthermore, the text advocates for promoting transparency in AI-driven actions to ensure alignment with democratic principles and human dignity.

Technical Feasibility and Infrastructure

Focus Area: Sustainability of Al

The significant energy consumption of AI systems poses serious environmental concerns, particularly in the context of climate change. Training large AI models can require vast amounts of electricity that usually do not come from renewable sources. ¹³⁶ Additionally, the impact of AI on water and waste creation is also largely underestimated, as the underlying technology requires important water quantity to cool down the servers, which are also challenging to

recycle. As AI becomes more integrated across various industries, the cumulative demand will increase, exerting additional pressure on the planet's boundaries.

Governments need to support the development of new hardware solutions that will generate a lower environmental impact.

Established practice: European Union Al Act

The EU AI Act acknowledges the environmental impact of AI, and provides recommendations to make sure that AI systems "are developed and used in a sustainable and environmentally friendly manner as well as in a way to benefit all human beings, while monitoring and assessing the long-term impacts on the individual, society and democracy". Additionally, the text suggests for the voluntary disclosure around the following theme: "Assessing and minimizing the impact of AI systems on environmental sustainability, including as regards energy-efficient programming and techniques for the efficient design, training and use of AI."

While the EU AI Act agrees on the importance of the environment for AI development, it proposes mostly voluntary approaches to support this synergy and does not yet bind the development of AI technologies to environmental impact.

Emerging good practice: Various

Currently, limited regulations are forcing the development of AI solutions in line with environmental considerations. ¹³⁸ The environmental impact of AI is, however, raising important concerns for global actors, and many voices are advocating for a change. The OECD, for example, published a paper on "Measuring the environmental impacts of artificial intelligence compute and applications" in 2022. The Global Partnership on Artificial Intelligence also created a working group in 2022 called Raise (Responsible AI Strategy for the Environment) to account for the environmental impact of the solutions. ¹³⁹

As the topic is being addressed more and more by international actors, this topic is expected to rise and grow. However, this is currently a topic that is missing from current legislation and policies.

Achieving the SDGs with Al

Evaluating Progress: AI implementation across the SDGs

The SDGs, also known as the 2030 Agenda, include 17 goals and 169 targets that outline a sustainable future. These goals cover a wide array of social, environmental, and economic dimensions, offering a comprehensive framework for assessing sustainability. Despite their pivotal role in driving actions towards a sustainable future, most SDGs are unfortunately not progressing as intended, with some even regressing. This lack of progress poses a significant risk to the quality of life for billions of people and strains the limits of our planet. Moreover, the incomplete data availability for all goals further complicates the assessment of the current situation, raising concerns about the accuracy of the overall picture.

Despite the current outlook, an increasing number of people are advocating the use of technology to reverse this trend. The aim is that technology could equip governmental and non-governmental actors with the necessary tools to mitigate negative environmental effects while encouraging positive social impacts. All has evolved as a technology with numerous use cases that support the alignment of the SDGs with technological advancements. 144 145 For instance, All can enhance data availability in previously unmeasurable areas, such as using satellite images to monitor deforestation. 146 The existence of numerous other All use cases underscores the potential of All in shaping a more sustainable future. 147

To ensure that AI is used to advance the SDGs, governments and users must address the diverse challenges posed by AI. Concerns have been raised regarding AI's potential for biases, the development of technology and knowledge monopolies, and the impact on jobs. 148 It is important to align the next steps of AI development with a sustainable future and incorporate the appropriate enabling factors from the outset. Governments play a key role in creating a supportive landscape by addressing aspects such as private-public collaboration, regulations, transparency, and other relevant considerations.

To assist governments in this endeavour, this chapter aims to initially outline specific Al use cases for each SDG, providing a clear understanding of Al's potential impact on each goal. Using Al sources such as the Al for Good: Innovate for Impact report, the Al for Social Good report, the UN Activities on Al report, and others, this chapter will highlight potential use cases for each SDG. Subsequently, it will present specific opportunities and risks of Al for each SDG, offering insights to contextualise the technology's influence on the 2030 Agenda. Additionally, special considerations regarding trade-offs or synergies between the SDGs will be included.

Sustainable Development Goal 1: No Poverty

End poverty in all its forms everywhere

SDG 1 is facing a critical situation, with none of its 7 targets on track as of 2024. The UN warns that if current trends persist, an estimated 575 million people will still be living in extreme poverty by 2030, greatly impacting their quality of life and well-being. The UN further highlights that global efforts to eradicate extreme poverty have suffered setbacks due to the COVID-19 pandemic and other major shocks, leading to the first increase in extreme poverty in decades and reversing global progress by three years. The UN further highlights that global progress by three years.

Al and SDG 1

Al solutions and technologies can have various impacts on SDG 1. First, the technology may indirectly contribute to SDG 1's advancement by strengthening other SDGs such as SDG 9 or SDG 8. ¹⁵² ¹⁵³ By enabling research and innovation, the benefits generated could trickle down to SDG 1 via the creation of new products or services that are more affordable or better suited to the needs of the most vulnerable communities. For instance, using Al to reduce the costs associated with agricultural practices (e.g., minimizing the use of fertilizers) could enable communities to enhance their quality of life. ¹⁵⁴ This indirect influence represents the most significant positive impact of Al on SDG 1. Moreover, government support for Al in innovation and economic growth could indirectly lead to improvements in SDG 1.

Specific use cases linked to each target of SDG 1 can yield additional impact. For example, AI can enhance the efficiency of the financial sector, thereby increasing accessibility for the 1.7 billion adults lacking access to financial services. ¹⁵⁵ However, the number of AI use cases for SDG 1 is less than other SDGs, reducing the collaborative efforts between the technology and the Goal. For instance, based on two UN reports, there are only 2 use cases out of 40 in the AI for Good: Innovate for Impact report, ¹⁵⁶ and around 70 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI report. ¹⁵⁷

While AI can generate positive impacts for SDG 1, the potential risks associated with the technology for this Goal must be considered. AI could widen inequality between countries, ¹⁵⁸ and individuals. ¹⁵⁹ ¹⁶⁰ Ownership of AI solutions could further create monopolies, leading to a further concentration of wealth and power without equitable compensation for the content providers. Additionally, investments in AI and its infrastructures, such as robots in agriculture, can be costly and may hinder access to technology for the poorest communities, further widening the wealth divide. ¹⁶¹ To assure fairness and value for all, governments should account for new value-sharing models in their legislation.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Technology access: A significant constraint in AI adoption is
 the cost of associated access to market, in terms of AI hardware and software. For instance, not everyone can afford
 robots to assist in their operations in agriculture.¹⁶² Implementing a sharing model or subsidizing hardware costs
 could mitigate this risk.
- Ownership sharing: To mitigate the risk of technology monopolies, it is important to explore new business models that distribute value differently,¹⁶³ aiming to minimize inequality growth and fairly reward all contributors.

1 NO POVERTY



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 1 could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 86% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using Al to make the process faster for micro-finance loans and to provide access to financial services to communities that traditionally have been underserved.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Improving climate forecasting to better prepare communities for extreme weather events and reduce exposure to climate risks as aimed in target 5 of SDG 1.



link

Use case 3

Providing access to overlooked communities to market solutions to provide them with a new revenue stream and higher financial resilience.



Sustainable Development Goal 2: No Hunger

End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture

As of 2024, the progress of SDG 2 is unbalanced. While 1 goal out of 8 (2.b Agricultural export subsidies) is advancing, the remaining seven goals are either regressing or not being measured. This lack of progress means an estimated 600 million people are projected to experience hunger by 2030, with one in three individuals currently facing moderate or severe food insecurity. Globally, rising food prices, attributed to supply chain distribution and conflict, are exacerbating the challenge for communities to meet their nutritional requirements.

Al and SDG 2

Al offers numerous use cases to advance SDG 2, such as precision farming to optimize the use of resources (fertilizer or pesticides),
167 monitoring environmental conditions such as air, soil and water quality to enhance crop resilience, 168 and tracking animals for their well-being. 169 These use cases can improve farming practices, reducing environmental impact while maximizing productivity. In 2022, 10.5 billion tons of food waste were generated. 170 Al can address food waste by helping individuals monitor consumption and repurpose leftovers, as well as optimize the supply chain to reduce waste and ensure food reaches those in need. 171 172 173 The significance of Al for SDG 2 is evident in the substantial number of relevant use cases across different UN repositories: 8 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, 174 and approximately 60 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on Al. 175

However, the use of robots and other Al technology can be costly, potentially limiting access to a minority of farmers and exacerbating inequalities. ¹⁷⁶ ¹⁷⁷This could place additional pressure on farmers with limited resources across various regions to compete against these new technologies. Additionally, more efficient crops do not necessarily guarantee environmental or social improvements. ¹⁷⁸Focusing only on improved crop quality might disregard the environmental impact of increased yields and production. The impact of this could be better assessed due to improved monitoring capabilities. Increased crop yields should not be at the expense of reduced nutritional value for the end consumers. ¹⁷⁹

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: The development of AI use cases and incentives should be aligned with OECD AI principles to maximize sustainable value creation.¹⁸⁰ The objective is to prioritize governmental tools for AI use cases related to the SDGs.
- Ownership sharing: To reduce the risk of monopoly on technologies, new business models should be considered,¹⁸¹ where value is shared differently to minimize the increase in inequalities and reward all contributors.

2 ZERO HUNGER



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 2 could act as an (positive) enabler for 75% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 25% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using AI to drive new farming practices, such as precision farming, to reduce the quantity of pesticides used and to drive food production.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Improving AI instruments to improve the efficiency of farming practices and increase the quantity of food produced.



Use case 3

Optimizing supply chain and food transport to minimize waste creation and maximize access to nutritional products for various regions.



Sustainable Development Goal 3: Well-being

Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages

SDG 3 is experiencing limited progress across all 13 targets, with only 1 target on track (3.9 Health Impact of Pollution). The UN reports a global decline in life expectancy since COVID-19, dropping from 73.1 years in 2019 to 71.4 in 2021. Inequalities among regions significantly contribute to the lack of access to health services and rising death rates, posing challenges for lower- and middle-income countries in achieving their targets. 183

AI and SDG 3

Al's impact on SDG 3 is well documented in various Al use cases repositories: 20 use cases out of 40 in the AI for Good: Innovate for Impact, ¹⁸⁴ and approximately 85 use cases out of 408 in the $\it UN\,Activities\,on\,Al.^{185}$ For instance, Al can enhance diagnostics by efficiently reviewing patient data. As stated in a recent article of the National Library of Medecine, "With the recent Al revolution, medical diagnostics could be improved to revolutionize the field of medical diagnostics." 186 This extends to the development of new patient approaches, with practitioners increasingly seeking Al-driven tools to enhance patient health and quality of life. ¹⁸⁷ For example, new treatments using AI to connect Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) patients with their loved ones were presented at the AI for Good Summit 2024. 188 Similarly, robots are now providing comfort to patients and their families by taking over some care activities. 189 Additionally, AI can support and expedite the development of new drugs more efficiently, as demonstrated by the development of one of the vaccines during the Covid_19. 190 Al can also optimize the overall management of health-related processes, making them more cost-effective. 191 By enhancing patient diagnosis and drug development, Al has the potential to reduce the costs of medicine, making it more affordable. One significant risk associated with AI and SDG 3 is that many of these use cases originate from developed countries, raising concerns about the

affordability of these technologies for individuals in countries with fewer resources. ¹⁹² This could widen the gap in SDG 3 outcomes between countries. Additionally, mental health is increasingly negatively associated with AI, as practitioners are expected to keep up with new technologies, leading to additional stress and feelings of inadequacy. ¹⁹³ Governments should account for this risk by putting the user at the center of AI development and supporting patient-centric processes. Furthermore, health data is highly sensitive, ¹⁹⁵ and as AI relies on patient data, there is a significant risk of creating biases based on discriminatory dimensions (gender, ethnicity, etc.) or potential data breaches. These risks should be considered in the development of solution. ¹⁹⁶

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

WHO six Al principles: Al solutions should be aligned with the six principles advocated by the WHO: 1) Protecting human autonomy,
 2) Promoting human well-being and safety and the public interest, 3) Ensuring transparency, explainability and intelligibility, 4) Fostering responsibility and accountability, 5) Ensuring inclusiveness and equity, and 6) Promoting Al that is responsive and sustainable.

3 GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 3, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 69% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 8% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Leveraging Al to improve and support patient diagnostics to help make the diagnostic process faster, more efficient and transparent.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Using Al instruments to improve the quality of life of patients and their families by generating new technology-driven solutions such as connected prosthetics.



link

Use case 3

Implementing AI solutions at scale to drive down the cost of medicine and related activities.



<u>link</u>

Sustainable Development Goal 4: Education

Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

Only 1 out of the 10 targets in SDG 4 (4.5 Equal Access to education) in on track, while the remaining targets are either not progressing sufficiently or regressing. ¹⁹⁸ This places 300 million students at risk of lacking basic numeracy and literacy skills by 2030 and could result in approximately 84 million children being out of school by the same year. ¹⁹⁹ These outcomes are concerning, given that SDG 4 serves as an enabler for various other goals, and a lack of progress in this area could impact the entire 2030 agenda. ²⁰⁰

AI and SDG 4

Al's impact on SDG 4 is well documented in various Al use cases UN repositories: 7 use cases out of 40 in AI for Good: Innovate for $Impact^{201}$ and approximately 80 use cases out of 408 in the UNActivities on Al. 202 An example of the link between Al and SDG 4 is the use of robots to address the shortage of teachers and introduce innovative teaching methods. ²⁰³ Various instances of this use case were showcased in the AI for Good Summit, such as "Robots and AI in Schools" and "Supervised and reinforcement learning through fun robotics activities using ThymioAl educational robots," indicating a growing interest in this area. Additionally, AI can aid in monitoring learning activities and developing personalized and inclusive curricula tailored to each student's needs. 204 205 Analytics-driven learning can create appropriate content to accommodate diverse learning and teaching situations, which is crucial as students increasingly experience school fatigue and burnout. ²⁰⁶ Al-driven learning solutions are beneficial not only for students but also for facilitating the upskilling and reskilling of workers to continuously acquire relevant skills. This is particularly pertinent as the transition to AI necessitates new skills from the workforce, underscoring the need for reskilling.

However, these practices can be costly and inaccessible for economically disadvantaged communities, widening the skills development gap. ²⁰⁷ ²⁰⁸ To enhance learning opportunities for underprivileged communities, remote content can expand access to educational materials. Digital or Al-generated content accessible globally can help bridge learning gaps. ²⁰⁹ Governments could collaborate with NGOs or international organizations to facilitate the creation of accessible content suitable for diverse communities. Another crucial consideration in the context of Al and education is the proliferation of fake online content. ²¹⁰ The prevalence of unverified or false information makes it increasingly difficult to discern between accurate and misleading content, hindering education as certain topics are disputed and restricted due to mis/disinformation. Governments should advocate for greater transparency in information dissemination.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Access: Al content should be readily accessible to all, not only in terms of cost but also in the manner of information sharing, by adhering to the UNESCO and UNICEF Gateways to Public Digital Learning or the Al and education guidance from UNESCO.²¹¹ ²¹²
- Transparency: To reduce the dissemination of false information, governments could concentrate on creating incentives aligned with established trustworthy Al principles.

4 QUALITY EDUCATION



Impact

According to a study on the impact of Al on SDG 4, Al could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 70% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using AI-driven robots to provide new ways for students to learn and to practice content



link

Use case 2

Implementing AI solutions to help map the educational needs of students in a geographical space to better plan school



<u>link</u>

Use case 3

Learning from Al technologies to enhance storytelling skills to drive communication, collaboration and knowledge-sharing.



<u>link</u>

Sustainable Development Goal 5: Gender Equality

Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls

SDG 5 faces significant data availability challenges, making it difficult to accurately assess its status.²¹³ However, based on the available data, only 1 target (5.6 Technology for Women Empowerment) is on track. At the current pace, it is projected to take 300 years to end child marriage and 286 years to close the gender gaps in legal protection.²¹⁴

5 GENDER EQUALITY



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 5, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 56% of the targets an act as an inhibitor (negative) for 33% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Creating a tool to explore natural language processing (NLP) software to identify biases and stereotypes.



link

Use case 2

Developing of a tool to help measuring Gender Based Violence in Latin America.



link

Use case 3

Designing an Al-driven transit safety app for Manila to Ensure Women's Transport Safety



link

AI and SDG 5

The connection between Al and SDG 5 is not extensively documented in various Al use case repositories from the UN: 3 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, ²¹⁵ and approximately 90 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on Al. ²¹⁶ However, there are a few Al use cases that can contribute to the progress of SDG 5. For example, Al can facilitate the monitoring of the goal at a country or company level, which is particularly relevant given the limited availability of data on gender equality globally. ²¹⁷ Additionally, Al can support the development of platforms or chatbots for women to quickly seek help in cases of violence or abuse. ²¹⁸ Al could also drive the use of connected devices in households, reducing the time required for chores. For instance, automated robot cleaners can alleviate some of the burden of household chores, ²¹⁹ which disproportionately impact women.

While Al can advance certain targets of SDG 5, it is important to address the associated risks for gender equity. For instance, many Al solution developers are men, posing challenges for women to enter this field. 220 According to the World Economic Forum, women make up only 22% of Al professionals globally, only 14% of Al paper authors are women, only 18% of authors at the leading Al conferences are women and just 2% of venture capital was directed towards start-ups founded by women in 2019. 221 This underrepresentation can result in solutions that do not account for women's needs and limit work opportunities for women. Moreover, historical data used in many Al solutions may contain inherent biases. 222 For example, common GenAl tools have associated women's names with words such as "home", "family", or "children". while men's names were linked with "business", "salary", or

tools have associated women's names with words such as "home", "tamily", or "children", while men's names were linked with "business", "salary", or "career". ²²³ In finance, Al use can lead to bias against women, limiting their access to loans or credits. ²²⁴ Across various sectors, Al-driven bias may restrict women's access to employment, financial services, health services, insurance, and more. Additionally, Al-driven content on social media can exacerbate gender-based roles, ²²⁵ leading to challenges with body-image and instanes of toxic masculinity, thereby compromising women's safety on the internet.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Women-centricity: The development of AI solutions should be aligned with UNESCO's "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence" to ensure that human dignity is maintained.
- Diversity in development: Provide women and girls the appropriate financial and emotional support to join STEM careers, and work or connect them with NGOs that can provide the right technical skills and ecosystem to push those aspirations forward.²²⁷

Caitlin Kraft Buchman from **Women at The Table** shares recommendations on ensuring gender equality in AI development and deployment (2024):

- Construct **large new unbiased datasets** with a focus not only on quantity but on quality for the public good. It is important to actively produce open, gender disaggregated datasets; which will better enable an understanding of the sources of bias in AI, and ultimately improve the performance of machine learning systems. We need to Invest in controls to oversee data collection processes and human-in-the-loop verification, so that data is not collected at the expense of women and other traditionally excluded groups. And of course, it is also vital to engage in more inclusive data collection processes that focus, again, not only on quantity but on quality of datasets.
- Pilot AI that allocates 21st century **social protection, subsidies, and scholarships** where women and girls have traditionally been left behind. Encourage public institutions to innovate and lead in this domain. We need to be creative with small, targeted, impactful pilots based on social science research that allocate social incentives, subsidies, or scholarships where women have traditionally been excluded in prior systems. This is a positive agenda to advance values of equality we have long embraced, to correct for the visibility, quality, and influence of women proportionate to the population. STEM education alone will not get us where we want to go.
- Enact **gender responsive public procurement guidelines** for organizations and all levels of government with hard targets and the outline of roles and responsibilities of those organizations required to apply these principles. This could jumpstart new industries and value creation, invented and owned by women and girls, expanding definitions of 'expertise' so that those with lived experience and communities affected by technologies can influence the design, deployment, and control of new technologies.
- Mandate **algorithmic impact assessments** with an integrated approach, and holistically include gender, human rights, and environmental impact. These assessments need to be done beforehand and continuously throughout the lifecycle of the system. We need rigorous testing across the lifecycle and this testing should account for the origins and use of training data, test data, models, Application Program Interface (APIs), and other components over the product lifecycle. Al should improve the quality of, not control, the human experience.
- Enshrine the **public's right to know** the systems that impact their lives if algorithmic decisions have been made that affect an individual and that this right includes continuous consent and ends with contestability of the systems.

Sustainable Development Goal 6: Clean Water

Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all

SDG 6 currently has no targets on track, making it one of the least progressing SDG goals.²²⁸ This lack of progress means that safe drinking water remains out of reach for billions worldwide, with 2.2 billion lacking access to safely drinkable water and 3.5 billion lacking access to safe sanitation.²²⁹ With droughts becoming more common, this situation is expected to worsen, endangering the lives of billions of people. In 2022, roughly half of the world's population experienced severe water scarcity for at least part of the year, while one-quarter faced 'extremely high' levels of water stress.²³⁰



Al and SDG 6

The connection between Al and SDG 6 is not extensively documented in various AI UN use case repositories: 3 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, ²³¹ and approximately 50 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on Al.²³² Specific use cases for water improvement can include data monitoring for water management systems, which can optimize water flows to reduce energy and chemical usage while increasing water quantity. ²³³ This reduction is crucial, as water and wastewater management organizations are expected to invest around US\$6.3 billion in AI solutions to enhance their services.²³⁴ Additionally, by improving climate event predictions, AI can better help the system manage large water discharges, which may occur more frequently due to increased flooding from climate change. ²³⁵ Al solutions can also be used to locate new water sources for at-risk communities or to test the water quality of those sources. 236 Other use cases include Al-driven farming solutions that reduce the need for irrigation, ²³⁷ asset monitoring in water systems to ensure ongoing maintenance, ²³⁸ monitoring the quality of lakes and other bodies of water, ²³⁹ and the use of AI to drive desalination plant efforts.²⁴⁰

However, these solutions are often costly and may not be accessible to all countries or communities. ²⁴¹ This is particularly critical as water access issues affect regions differently, and most countries affected by water issues are also the poorest, ²⁴² making it even more challenging for them to use Al solutions because Al itself requires significant water usage to function. ²⁴³ From producing the supporting hardware to the cooling of data centers, substantial water quantities are needed, which could be polluted or inaccessible for individuals to meet their own needs. The numbers are quite significant, as it is stated that "the global Al demand may be accountable for between 4.2-6.6 billion cubic meters of water withdrawal in 2027, which is more than the total annual water withdrawal of Denmark or half of the United Kingdom". ²⁴⁴

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: The development of AI use cases and incentivess-hould be aligned with OECD AI principles to maximise sustainable value creation.²⁴⁵ The objective is to prioritise governmental tools for AI use cases related to the SDGs.
- Technology improvement: Reducing water consumption is imperative to support the development of SDG 6 hence technologies with less water use should be prioritized.²⁴⁶

Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 6, AI could act as an (positive) enabler f,or 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 63% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Implementing AI to monitor water consumption and to identify and address overconsumption.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Using AI in wastewater management systems to improve forecasting of the system and reduce costs.



link

Use case 3

Establishing AI use cases that can improve flood and rain prediction to help the system account for water changes.



link

Sustainable Development Goal 7: Affordable and Clean Energy

Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all

SDG 7 is the only goal where no targets are regressing, and 2 out of 5 targets are currently on track.²⁴⁷ However, despite this progress, most energy consumed globally is still derived from non-renewable sources, and hundreds of millions of people remain unconnected to the energy grid.²⁴⁸ According to the UN, at the current rate, 660 million people will still lack electricity, and 1.8 billion will not have access to clean cooking fuels and technologies by 2030.²⁴⁹

AI and SDG 7

The relationship between SDG 7 and Al presents a paradox. While Al has the potential to contribute to the achievement of SDG 7, its substantial energy requirements pose a significant challenge to this Goal. 250 There are numerous AI UN use cases that align with SDG 7 objectives, in the various repositories: 4 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact,²⁵¹ and approximately 50 use cases out of 408 in the *UN Activities on AI.*²⁵² Al use cases for energy include the development of a smart grid, where energy can be optimized to enhance system efficiency and reduce energy waste.²⁵³ Additionally, Al can be used in data management processes to minimize the energy required for specific tasks or schedule them at times when less energy is needed. ²⁵⁴ This is critical as data storage is projected to contribute to 14% of the world's emissions by 2040. ²⁵⁵ Al can play a crucial role in exploring new energy solutions and materials, such as driving advancements in nuclear fusion²⁵⁶ and identifying more efficient photovoltaic materials.²⁵⁷ Furthermore, Al can optimize the production of renewable energy, addressing the unpredictability of sources like wind and solar power.²⁵⁸

The adoption of Al technology has led to a significant increase in energy consumption.. Al servers, if operating at full capacity, would consume at least 85.4 terawatt-hours of electricity per year, surpassing the annual energy usage of many small countries. ²⁵⁹Using this large quantity of energy could make it a challenge to achieve the targets related to SDG 7. This substantial energy demand poses a challenge to achieving the targets of SDG 7, particularly impacting poorer communities' access to affordable energy ²⁶⁰ and their ability to prioritize renewable energy over fossil fuels.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: Align AI use case development and incentives with OECD AI principles to maximize sustainable value creation.²⁶¹ The objective is to prioritize governmental tools for AI use cases related to the SDGs.
- Technology improvement: Prioritizing technologies with lower energy requirements is crucial to support the development of SDG 7 by reducing overall energy consumption.²⁶²

7 AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY



mpact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 7. AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 40% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using AI to optimize the supply and demand of the energy grid to improve efficiency and minimize waste.



link

Use case 2

Implementing Al solutions for data centers to reduce the overall energy impact of data processing or storing.



link

Use case 3

Focusing on AI solutions to develop more efficient materials for energy production, such as photovoltaic cells.



<u>link</u>

Sustainable Development Goal 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all

Half of the 12 targets of SDG 8 are regressing, with only 1 (8.10 Access to financial services) on track.²⁶³ This means that approximately two billion workers remain in precarious informal jobs.²⁶⁴ The UN highlights that progress towards SDG 8 is hindered by challenges stemming from the aftermath of COVID-19, trade tensions, increasing debts in developing nations, conflicts, and geopolitical conflicts, collectively posing threats to global economic growth.²⁶⁵

AI and SDG 8

Various papers suggest that the automation of tasks with AI is expected to indirectly yield positive impacts on the SDG goals. ²⁶⁶ This includes the potential for growth and employment to generate social and environmental value, such as creating new income streams for communities (SDG 1 and SDG 10) and improving agricultural practices (SDG 2). ²⁶⁷ That being said, the synergy between AI and SDG 8 is well-documented within the UN system: 9 use cases out of 40 in AI for Good: Innovate for Impact, ²⁶⁸ and approximately 100 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. ²⁶⁹

While there are numerous use cases for SDG 8, the primary focus of the literature centers on the impact of AI on economic growth, a first target of SDG 8. One report suggests that the adoption of Al could potentially generate approximately US\$15.7 trillion by 2030, or a 16 % higher cumulative GDP compared with today, ²⁷⁰ while others express more pessimism. Economist Daron Acemoglu, for instance, suggests a more modest GDP boost of approximately 0.93% to 1.16% over the next decade. 271 Various factors, including investment levels, adoption rates, and the extent of change, will influence these projections. Governments are therefore positioned to create the necessary framework to facilitate Al advancement within organizations. While the precise percentage improvement remains uncertain, all sources concur that AI will indeed impact economic growth. However, this pursuit of economic growth may give rise to additional environmental challenges, as the current economy is not detached from environmental degradation.²⁷²

Another consideration is the connection between Al and job transitions. While using Al will necessitate new skills and talent to facilitate the transition, automation could result in the displacement of numerous jobs. ²⁷³ Furthermore, Al has the potential to automate the most mundane tasks, allowing workers to concentrate on more interesting aspects of their roles. ²⁷⁴ Governments should therefore take steps to support job transitions and prevent the widening of talent gaps that could exacerbate inequalities.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: Aligning Al use case development and incentives
 with OECD Al principles to maximize sustainable value creation. The
 objective is to prioritize governmental tools for Al use cases related to
 the SDGs.
- Job transition support: Supporting the workforce access to new skills
 while considering diversity to minimize the increase in inequalities.





Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 8, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 92% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 33% of the targets.

(Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using AI to drive the growth of countries and benefits in providing more products and services.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Implementing open-source AI solutions could help drive free access to educational content and information.



link

Use case 3

Applying tools for smaller companies processes can help them be more efficient and to compete on the market, while making them more sustainable.



Sustainable Development Goal 9: Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure

Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation

SDG 9 is experiencing uneven progress, with only 2 out of 8 targets currently on track (9.5 Research and development and 9.c Access to ICT & Internet). The UN reports that since 2022, the manufacturing sector has faced stagnation, attributed to geopolitical instability, inflation, logistical challenges, rising energy costs, and a broader global economic slowdown. Globally, the share of employment in manufacturing has declined, despite some progress in reducing CO_2 intensity in manufacturing, which still falls short of the 2030 target values. 277

Al and SDG 9

Similar to SDG 8, the interplay between SDG 9 and AI is expected to yield indirect positive impacts for numerous other SDGs. ²⁷⁸ ²⁷⁹ AI-driven solutions will contribute to potential SDG impact through technological advancements, which is a key focus area of SDG 9. ²⁸⁰ This synergy is well-documented, with numerous UN use cases identified: 14 use cases out of 40 in *AI for Good: Innovate for Impact*. ²⁸¹ and approximately 140 use cases out of 408 in the *UN Activities on AI*. ²⁸²

Various specific AI use cases can indeed link AI to SDG 9. Firstly, AI can enhance research efficiency, as evidenced by ar ececent study, which indicated 8% of its recent articles mention AI, with around half of 1,600 surveyed scientists considering AI a crucial research tool. ²⁸³ AI's ability to process large volumes of data supports improved data-driven insights creation and enables innovators to focus on higher-value tasks while automating tedious ones. ²⁸⁴ Secondly, AI can provide access to previously unusable data or information, such as processing social media text, satellite images, or videos promptly, which was previously time-consuming. ²⁸⁵ Furthermore, AI can significantly contribute to industrialization and manufacturing capacity by optimizing manufacturing processes, product design, and enhancing risk control efficiency. ²⁸⁶

Given the crucial role of AI in supporting the implementation of the SDGs, it is vital to ensure that these use cases are prioritized.²⁸⁷ This is especially critical in the context of funding, as current research funds for AI applications often prioritize commercial interests, potentially leading to a risk of neglecting SDG-related development.²⁸⁸ Consequently, AI use cases with positive environmental and social impacts may be overlooked in favor of economically lucrative ones.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Financial incentives: To support the development of SDG-related use cases, research funding should also be allocated to socially or environmentally beneficial use cases.
- Impact assessment: Aligning AI use case development and incentives with OECD AI principles to maximize sustainable value creation.²⁸⁹ The objective is to prioritize governmental tools for AI use cases related to the SDGs.

9 INDUSTRY, INNOVATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 9, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 50% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using new AI technologies to further develop the AI technical ecosystem and help it be more efficient and more suitable for generating innovation.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Implementing standardization of technology and processes to support AI growth, innovation, and collaboration.



<u>link</u>

Use case 3

Connecting AI start-ups to the SDGs gaps to drive new AI-driven use cases aligned with the SDGs.



<u>link</u>

Sustainable Development Goal 10: Reduced Inequalities

Reduce inequality within and among countries

SDG 10 currently has only 1 out of 10 targets (10.b resources flow for development) on track.²⁹⁰ Before the pandemic, the forecasted inequality stood at -0.8% but has now risen to 4.4%, posing challenges for countries in achieving their SDG agenda.²⁹¹ Furthermore, discrimination based on age, gender, religion, race, or belief affects one in six people globally. In 2023, there was a record high of 35.8 million refugees, and over 8,000 migrant deaths were recorded worldwide.²⁹²

Al and SDG 10

The connection between AI and SDG 10 is extensively documented in various AI use case repositories from the UN: 14 use cases out of 40 in AI for Good: Innovate for Impact, ²⁹³ and approximately 110 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. ²⁹⁴ These use cases encompass a range of topics, including the monitoring of weather events or conflicts for at-risk communities. ²⁹⁵ By consolidating information from diverse sources such as official reports and social media, AI can assist governments and NGOs in effectively tracking situations in different communities to identify risks and take appropriate action. Additionally, AI has the potential to aid refugee support by helping to identify welcoming communities, creating chatbots to assist, and optimizing refugee camps, among other applications. ²⁹⁶

While these use cases are valuable in illustrating the synergy between AI and SDG 10, it is crucial not to overlook the associated risks for inequalities. Firstly, the majority of AI solution ownership is concentrated in a few countries (primarily in the Global North) or large companies, leading to the centralization of benefits in specific locations ²⁹⁷ and unequal distribution of ownership and value, potentially exacerbating inequalities. ²⁹⁸ For instance, the training of AI models using data from individuals or small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) often occurs without financial compensation for sharing their content and work. ²⁹⁹ Secondly, the development of AI solutions typically reflects the needs and values defined by the developer, potentially resulting in significant biases, particularly as much of the technology is concentrated in specific geographic locations. ³⁰⁰

While this matter has been discussed from a gender perspective, it also applies to country diversity and underrepresented communities. Lastly, while Al can monitor at-risk populations for their benefit, it can also be misused by malicious organizations to achieve the opposite outcome, endangering these populations. ³⁰¹ There is a legitimate concern that Al could be employed for surveillance of humanitarian efforts, perpetuating hate towards minorities, and providing tools to monitor populations and restrict freedom of movement when necessary.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Ownership sharing: To reduce the risk of monopoly on technologies, new business models should be considered, ³⁰² where value is shared differently to minimize the increase in inequalities and reward all contributors.
- User-centric: Align the development of AI solutions with the "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence" from UNESCO to ensure that human dignity is maintained.

10 REDUCED INEQUALITIES



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 10, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 90% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 70% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Aggregating various data points from social media to assess critical situations for minorities and support in case of problems or risks.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Using an AI platform to help refugees find the best information in their time of need by leveraging chatbots.



<u>link</u>

Use case 3

Training AI to recognize biases in historical data to develop new solutions that are more inclusive.



Sustainable Development Goal 11: Sustainable Cities and Communities

Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable

Data availability for SDG 11 is notably low, with only 35% of data available, posing challenges in assessing progress on the targets.³⁰⁴ Currently, only 1 out of the 10 targets (11.6 Urban air quality & waste management) is on track. This translates into 1.1 billion urban residentsliving in slums, with this number expected to rise to 2 billion in the next 30 years.³⁰⁵ As cities continue to expand globally, the significance of SDG 11 is growing, with an estimated five billion people expected to reside in cities by 2050, compared to 3.3 billion in 2014.³⁰⁶

11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES AND COMMUNITIES



Al and SDG 11

The relationship between AI and SDG 11 is well-documented, with numerous Al use cases: 17 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for ${\it Impact,} {\it 307} {\it and approximately } {\it 80 use cases out of 408 in the {\it UN Activities on}}$ ${\it Al.}^{308}$ This demonstrates the breadth of Al applications available to advance smart cities and align with a forward-looking vision. Notably, several articles highlight the benefits of leveraging AI to develop smart cities. 309 AI has the potential to enhance cities by promoting environmental sustainability through energy efficiency and space optimization, $^{\rm 311\,312} {\rm as}$ well as by improving the overall livability and organization of urban areas through enhanced transportation systems. 313 314 Furthermore, the adoption of Al in smart cities has shown promise in reducing inequalities compared to traditional cities. 315 Additionally, AI can also be used to help in the design of cities and to drive urban planning. 316 317 Additionally, AI can play a crucial role in city design and urban planning, providing urban planners with tools to expedite decision-making processes and prioritize citizen needs, ultimately leading to more inclusive and sustainable city development. Moreover, Al can contribute to enhancing city security by facilitating the monitoring of urban activities. 318

One important aspect to consider is the need to build trust and transparency with citizens regarding the value of smart cities and the responsible use of data. ³¹⁹For instance, one attempt to establish a smart city in Toronto failed due to a lack of public trust, highlighting the critical importance of citizen involvement in the development of smart cities. ³²⁰It is also important to mitigate the potential risks associated with Al, such as the risk of conducting surveillance on specific communities, as identified in SDG 10. ³²¹ Additionally, within the context of SDG 11, the preservation of cultural and natural heritage (SDG 11.4) is paramount. There is a growing concern about the potential homogenization of the creative sector by Al, which could stifle creative diversity. ³²²It is important to recognize the risk that a limited number of Al tools influencing areas such as arts and architecture may lead to a reduction in cultural diversity within the sector.

mpact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 11, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 20% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Developing smart cities that are less environmentally impactful, and more enjoyable for the urban population using AI and technologies.



link

Use case 2

Using an AI platform to help increase the security of cities by monitoring and flagging any risks for the citizens.



<u>link</u>

Use case 3

Developing cities plan and urban solutions using AI to improve the development process and connect it to the needs of the citizens.



link

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Data privacy: Insufficient trust in data sharing has the potential to diminish the effectiveness of smart cities. 323 Governments need to establish robust privacy frameworks to prevent data over-sharing and mitigate associated concerns.
- User-centric: Align the development of Al solutions with the "Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence" from UNESCO to ensure that human dignity is maintained.

Sustainable Development Goal 12: Responsible Consumption and Production

Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns

Data availability for SDG 12 is notably limited, with only 32% of data availability, posing challenges in tracking progress towards the targets. ³²⁵ Currently, only 4 out of the 11 targets are deemed to be on track, underscoring the critical nature of the situation. ³²⁶ This is critical since SDG 12 is a direct enabler of various other SDGs such as SDG 13 - Climate Action, and could thus make it more challenging to reach those goals.

Al and SDG 12

Al plays a crucial role in supporting the green transition as shown by the list of various AI UN use cases for SDG 12: 8 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, ³²⁷ and approximately 50 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. 328 AI can support SDG 12 in process optimization and driving circularity in organizations. 329 For example, AI can be used for environmental data monitoring and optimization related to energy use, waste generation, GHG emissions, logistics, and other environmental data. 330 This monitoring can help companies make data-driven decisions that incorporate environmental considerations, thereby reducing their overall environmental impact. 331 This also extends to individuals who now have access to improved data on the products they buy, and can nudge behaviors towards more sustainable options, forcing companies to adapt in turn. 332 In the fashion sector, for instance, AI can be used to provide personalized recommendations to avoid waste or use predictive analytics to help with forecasting. 333 Furthermore, the proliferation of data can enhance sustainability reporting, fostering collaboration with external stakeholders, attracting investors, and ensuring compliance with environmental regulations. 334 This streamlined approach to data reporting can help advance SDG 12.6 - Corporate Sustainable Practices.

In addition to these use cases, Al also poses some risks for SDG 12. Specifically, process improvement and optimizing may not necessarily align with positive environmental impact. 335 Increased efficiency could incentivize organizations to produce more thereby using more resources. Moreover, the use of Al in social media and marketing may further drive consumer consumption by making targetter marketing more efficient. 336 However, Al can play a positive role in identifying and mitigating greenwashing claims by raising the disclosure quality of ESG rating scores. 337 However, the substantial resources required for Al implementation can pose challenges in aligning with SDG 12, as shown with SDG 6 and SDG 7.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: Aligning AI use case development and incentives
 with OECD AI principles to maximize sustainable value creation.³³⁸ The
 objective is to prioritize governmental tools for AI use cases related to
 the SDGs.
- Technology improvement: Reducing energy consumption is imperative to support the development of SDG 12, hence technologies with less energy requirements should be prioritized.³³⁹

12 RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION



Impact

According to a study on the impact of Al on SDG 12, Al could act as an (positive) enabler for 82% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 27% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Providing access to environmental data to end-customers to nudge them into selecting the most sustainable option.



link

Use case 2

Monitoring environmental data with Al to drive sustainability reporting capacity for organizations.



link

Use case 3

Using AI to reduce forecasting risks within the supply chain and to minimize waste creation.



Sustainable Development Goal 13: Climate Action

Take urgent action to combat climate change and it's impacts

SDG 13 shows limited progress, with 2 out of 5 targets advancing moderately ³⁴⁰ This lack of progress could lead to 2.5°C degree warming by 2 100, ³⁴¹ posing a direct threat to all other SDGs. For example, climate change cost the economy an average of US\$803 billion between 2019 and 2020, impacting SDG 8, and increasing mortality rates in vulnerable regions, affecting progress towards SDG 3.³⁴²

13 CLIMATE ACTION



Al and SDG 13

The relationship between AI and SDG 13 is well-documented, with numerous use cases highlighted in various UN repositories: 7 use cases out of 40 in AI for Good: Innovate for Impact, 343 and around 110 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. 344 Similar, to other environmental SDGs, the synergy between AI and SDG 13 is a paradox. On one side, numerous use cases can enhance climate actions by using AI, while on the other side, the energy usage and increase in consumption behaviors from AI put the entire relationship at risk. $^{\rm 345}$ Interesting use cases from AI include the optimization tion of logistics such as freight roads to minimize CO₂ emissions, where the road used is for example the least carbon-intensive. 346 This is a valuable reduction, as transport accounts for around one-fifth of global CO₂ emissions. 347 Additionally, Al can be used to drive CO_2 measurement and can give additional visibility to the causes and effects of climate change to govern $ments. {}^{348} It \ can \ also \ help \ governments \ better \ monitor \ their \ climate \ impact$ and make informed decisions around it. 349 Moreover, AI can also be used to provide improved forecasting abilities on weather events, to help governments and organizations better prepare for adverse climate events, and also better prepare the regions to support such catastrophes. $^{350}\,\mathrm{Additional\,AI}$ use cases for the climate include mapping melting behaviors of icebergs, helping communities at risk to better mitigate climate impact or supporting organizations in finding pathways to decarbonize. 351 Al can give the right tools to governments to better predict and plan the challenges that climate change will generate.

The rise of AI use cases, however, can also be problematic for SDG 13 as AI consumes important energy, which does not only originate from renewable energy, and lead to the creation of 0.01% of the GHG emissions currently. 352 The question arises with the socialization of AI to see if this number is going to rise, as the demand for AI by 30% - 40% annually. Developing new efficient models could be a pathway to minimize any growth impact of AI. Another problem could regard the rise of new use cases such as marketing-driven cases that push for consumerism, and thus for the purchase of new products and services that would generate GHG emissions to be produced and managed. 353

Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 13, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 80% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 20% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Using AI to optimize the CO2 emissions of organizations from transport, distribution and logistics.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Leveraging Al to assess the new frontiers of climate science and provide a better understanding of our climate and climate change.



link

Use case 3

Implementing AI forecasting solutions for weather events to better prepare communities for adverse weather events and the risks



link

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Impact assessment: Aligning AI use case development and incentives
 with OECD AI principles to maximize sustainable value creation. 354 The
 objective is to prioritize governmental tools for AI use cases related to
 the SDGs.
- Technology improvement: Reducing energy consumption is imperative to support the development of SDG 13, hence technologies with less energy requirements should be prioritized.³⁵⁵

Sustainable Development Goal 14: Life Below Water

Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development

SDG 14 faces significant challenges, with 4 out of 19 targets regressing and only one on track.³⁵⁶ The ocean is at risk due to ocean warming, acidification, plastic pollution, over-fishing, and coastal eutrophication, endangering the livelihoods of three billion people who rely on the ocean for sustenance and income.^{357 358}

14 LIFE BELOW WATER



Al and SDG 14

The synergy between AI and SDG 14 is underrepresented, with a limited number of documented UN use cases: 1 use case out of 40 in AI for Good: Innovate for Impact, 359 and approximately 40 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. 360 AI can be used to monitor and track the biodiversity underwater, ³⁶¹ giving scientists and governments a better understanding of the risks marine life is facing to protect it. Additionally, Al can be used to develop new transporting solutions on water inspired by the mobility of life underwater. $^{\overline{362}}$ Al can be used to improve the monitoring of ships, which is beneficial given that approximately 80% of goods are transported by ships and could therefore benefit from new transportation approaches. 363 Using AI to optimize routes while considering the environment, could provide important benefits for the waterways.³⁶⁴ Similar to SDG 13, AI can be used to provide the government with new climate forecasting tools that could better plan for extreme weather events and help communities living in coastal areas to better prepare. ³⁶⁵ AI can also help robots clean the plastic from the ocean³⁶⁶ or support the discovery of oil spills.³⁶⁷

Although there are numerous compelling use cases for SDG 14, it's important to acknowledge the potential negative impacts of AI on this goal. AI's significant water use, as shown in SDG 6, ³⁶⁸ and its potential to increase the fishing industry's productivity, can exacerbate overfishing, are key concerns. ³⁶⁹ However, AI can also be employed to monitor and limit overfishing, provided there is international collaboration to prevent actors from benefiting.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- International collaboration: Alignment of good practices around AI is important to make sure that all actors can collaborate.³⁷⁰
- Technology improvement: Reducing energy consumption is imperative to support the development of SDG 14, hence technologies with less energy requirements should be prioritized.³⁷¹

Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 14, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 90% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 30% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Monitoring biodiversity underwater using AI to give governments and organizations a tool to better protect it.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Leveraging AI to develop a new transporting approach inspired by underwater biodiversity.



Use case 3

Using AI to identify oil spills or leakages early, to minimize the risks of a damaging oil spill.



<u>link</u>

Sustainable Development Goal 15: Life on Land

Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss

Like other environmental SDGs, SDG 15 encounters significant challenges, with only 2 out of 12 targets currently on track. ³⁷² This lack of progress poses a threat to biodiversity, with the world experiencing its largest species extinction since the Cretaceous Period (dinosaur age), ongoing forest loss, and land degradation. ³⁷³ Additionally, the lack of progress jeopardizes other SDGs, as many communities rely on land safety and biodiversity for survival, directly linking to climate change. ³⁷⁴

AI and SDG 15

The connection between AI and SDG 15 is well-documented, with numerous UN use cases: 7 out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, ³⁷⁵ and approximately 45 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on Al. 376 Particularly, there are several Al applications related to SDG 15 that include monitoring land-use change. 377 Land use change refers to the change of typology of a specific land, such as deforestation or desertification, ³⁷⁸ which is also often used as a proxy for biodiversity impact. 379 Using satellite images, AI can show what is happening on the ground, thereby helping organizations limit the deforestation of their activities, but also help governments protect those areas. These solutions can also help with planning land management and reforestation. 380 Additionally, AI can be used to help count and monitor biodiversity. 381 For instance, Al can analyze recorded forest noises or videos to identify the species present, providing insights into the local ecosystem and animal behaviors. This aids scientists in devising effective conservation strategies. Additionally, Al assists the government in anti-poaching efforts by enabling rangers to optimize patrol routes using randomization and historical data for enhanced efficiency and poacher

These use cases demonstrate the potential of AI to advance SDG 15, but it's crucial to establish guardrails to ensure mutual support between AI and SDG 15. AI's potential for biodiversity preservation must be balanced against the risk of exploitation by poachers or other malicious actors. ³⁸³ Moreover, the development of AI hardware solutions requires specific resources, which could impact land use and contribute to pollution. ³⁸⁴ Similarly, the production and marketing of goods using AI can drive land usage change and biodiversity loss, highlighting the need for careful consideration of AI's environmental impact. ³⁸⁵

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- International collaboration: Alignment on good practices around Al are important to make sure that all actors can collaborate on those matters.
- Technology improvement: To reduce the quantity of energy consumed would be imperative to support the development of SDG 15, hence technologies with less energy requirements should be prioritized.³⁸⁶

15 LIFE ON LAND



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 15, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 100% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 33% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Monitoring biodiversity status using Al to provide governments with improved information on pathways to protect it.



Use case 2

Using AI to review deforestation to assure to have precise information and make informed decisions.



<u>link</u>

Jse case 3

Implementing AI solutions to help the government prevent poaching.



Sustainable Development Goal 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions

Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels

SDG 16 encounters significant challenges, with no targets currently on track.³⁸⁷ This lack of progress is evident in the 50% surge in civilian deaths in 2022, the global displacement of 104.8 million individuals by the end of 2022, and the identification of nearly 200,000 trafficking victims between 2017 and 2020.³⁸⁸

Al and SDG 16

Al's connection with SDG 16 is well-documented, with numerous use cases in Al repositories: 5 out of 40 in the *Al for Good: Innovate for Impact*, ³⁸⁹ and approximately 135 use cases out of 408 in the *UN Activities on Al*. ³⁹⁰ This highlights the significance of Al for SDG 16 and underscores the critical role of strong and inclusive institutions in Al development. Specifically, Al applications include driving efficient and equitable justice, ³⁹¹ improving government record-keeping and identification processes, ³⁹² enhancing national security through crime prediction, and detecting money laundering activities. ³⁹³

Al presents both opportunities and challenges in achieving SDG 16. On one hand, Al can provide governments with tools to enhance public safety and justice. On the other hand, it could also be exploited for governmental abuse. ³⁹⁴ A key area where Al intersects with governance is through its use in social media, which can influence citizen behavior by polarizing opinions. ³⁹⁵ Recommendation algorithms often reinforce users' interests by repeatedly exposing them to the same content (creating echo chambers) and limiting access to diverse viewpoints (filter bubbles). This restricts citizens' exposure to new ideas and credible information, potentially deepening extreme beliefs. ³⁹⁶ The spread of misinformation through Al-generated content, such as deepfakes or biased data, complicates the process of discerning truth. ³⁹⁷

This not only undermines social cohesion but also impacts individuals and the legal system. Detecting deepfakes, for instance, requires specialized tools, making it difficult for people to verify the authenticity of information. ³⁹⁸ Lastly, the centralization of Al ownership by a few entities can restrict participation, both among countries and individuals. ³⁹⁹ This consolidation of power may lead to limitations in social systems, as those who control Al could influence who benefits and who is excluded from its advancements.

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

- Data privacy: Lack of trust in data sharing could reduce the potential of smart cities. ⁴⁰⁰ Governments should make sure to create an appropriate privacy framework to avoid any problems with the over-sharing of data.
- User-centric: Align the development of AI solutions with UNESCO's Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence' that human dignity is maintained. 401

PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 16, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 58% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 25% of the targets. (Nature Communications.

Use case 1

Using Al powered technologies to drive safer cities



<u>link</u>

Developing Al-technologies to give access and discuss them in forums to legal support and legal system to anyone who might need it.



link

Use case 3

Leveraging AI to assess whether some content accessed is deep fake or real information.



Sustainable Development Goal 17: Partnerships for the Goals

Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development

SDG 17 faces significant challenges, with only 5 out of 19 targets currently on track.⁴⁰² This lack of progress poses a threat to the entire SDG 2030 agenda, as SDG 17 is pivotal in creating the necessary environment to drive progress across all other SDGs. The UN has highlighted a substantial US\$4 trillion annual investment gap for developing countries to achieve the SDGs, along with persistent challenges such as high external debt levels and limited online connectivity in low-income countries.

Al and SDG 17

The synergy between AI and SDG 17 is well documented as seen by the quantity of AI UN use cases in the various repositories: 10 use cases out of 40 in Al for Good: Innovate for Impact, 403 and approximately 135 use cases out of 408 in the UN Activities on AI. 404 This underscores the potential for AI to propel SDG 17 forward by providing essential tools to accelerate global partnerships for sustainable development. 405 For instance, AI can support brainstorming activities by creating virtual environments to enhance collaboration between different actors 406 and analyze real-time data to keep teams informed 407 and provide real-time feedback for faster international action. 408 Moreover, Al's role in driving GDP growth (SDG 8) can enable governments to explore new sources of tax revenue (17.1), although it is crucial to ensure fair and efficient taxation of Al. 409 Additionally, Al can assist organizations in improving tax compliance, thereby bolstering financial support for sustainable development initiatives. 410

An important consideration is the pivotal role of Al and data ownership in shaping the dynamics between countries. 411 The development of more use cases from the Global North could exacerbate the imbalance in collaboration, potentially marginalizing the Global South in the international Al landscape. 412 Recognizing the potential of Al to impact the 2030 Agenda, governments and international organizations have initiated the development of new international organizations or agreements to promote collaboration and international support, such as the "European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies: Statement on Artificial Intelligence, Robotics and 'Autonomous' Systems", and "OECD: OECD Principles on Al".413

Key Considerations for Stakeholders

 Collaboration: Align the development of AI solutions with international recommendations or agreements such as UNESCO's 'Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence' and the OECD Principles of AI to further support the development of international collaboration. 414

17 PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE GOALS



Impact

According to a study on the impact of AI on SDG 17, AI could act as an (positive) enabler for 26% of the targets and act as an inhibitor (negative) for 11% of the targets. (Nature Communications, 2020)

Use case 1

Aligning AI development locally in line with external requirements such as the OECD Principles of AI.



<u>link</u>

Use case 2

Using AI to drive brainstorming activities and real-time feedback to make collaboration more efficient.



link

Use case 3

Leveraging Al solutions to support tax monitoring.



Conclusion

Al holds immense potential to drive positive change, but like any tool, its impact depends on how it is used. Governments, businesses, and society must work together to steer Al toward advancing social good rather than causing harm. While Al can be used to decarbonize economies, reduce inequalities, and improve health outcomes, it can also be misused, monopolize industries and increase inequality. Ensuring Al aligns with the SDGs is critical to maximizing the benefits to society.

To achieve this, governments must take proactive steps. First, aligning AI development with sustainable goals and following best practices will ensure that new use cases contribute to social and environmental progress. This means creating policies that incentivize AI projects that focus on long-term societal benefits over short-term profits.

Governments also need to provide funding for AI initiatives that might not be commercially profitable initially but address critical social or environmental matters, such as climate change or health care access in underserved regions.

Transparency is another key aspect. All systems must be open about how they work and which datasets they use to avoid biases or abuses in decision-making. Clear regulations should be in place to ensure ethical All deployment, and users should be informed about how their data is being used and be offered a right of reply.

In addition, ensuring that marginalized groups—such as women and minorities—have access to skills development program is vital. By promoting diversity in the tech workforce and closing the digital skills gap, governments can help ensure that AI benefits everyone equally and reduces job displacement and transition impacts.

Furthermore, innovative financial models are necessary to ensure Al's benefits are shared equitably across society. This includes creating systems that prevent wealth concentration among a few tech giants and ensure fair compensation and transition pathways for workers in Al-affected industries.

Finally, access to AI technology should be broad to ensure that the benefits of AI are shared globally, not just concentrated in wealthier countries or large corporations. At the same time, ongoing technological improvements are needed to minimize AI's environmental footprint, ensuring its use does not contribute to long-term ecological damage.

This list of focus areas and key considerations can help support governments and policymakers to successfully channel AI in support of the UN SDGs, ensuring that AI initiatives are ethical, inclusive, and effective.

1) Al Policy, Governance and Ethical Standards

Developing a cohesive framework that integrates Al policies, governance, and ethical standards is essential. Clear and effective policies guide the ethical and equitable deployment of Al technologies, ensuring they align with national goals and the UN SDGs. Strong governance and regulatory guardrails ensure Al systems are used responsibly, minimizing risks related to privacy, security, and fairness. Establishing ethical standards guarantees that Al respects human rights and societal values, fostering trust and accountability in its development and application.

Key considerations:

- Adopt and tailor international frameworks: Base national AI policies on established frameworks adapting them to local needs and priorities.
- Develop a comprehensive national AI strategy: Create a strategy that integrates ethical principles, governance, and national challenges.
- Implement and enforce ethical standards: Ensure fairness, transparency, and accountability by developing and enforcing ethical guidelines.
- Foster stakeholder engagement: Involve diverse stakeholders in shaping and monitoring Al policies to ensure broad representation and accountability.

2) Capacity Building and Education

Building AI skills and knowledge through capacity building and education is vital for bridging the AI digital divide. Enhancing institutional and individual capabilities ensures that both present and future generations are equipped to leverage AI's benefits. Robust educational programs provide professionals with the essential knowledge for successful AI integration, while capacity building strengthens institutions to support and sustain AI-driven advancements, creating a more inclusive and equitable technological future.

Key considerations:

- Integrate AI into curricula: Incorporate AI and data science education across all levels, from early education to higher education, to build foundational skills and prepare future generations for an AI-driven world.
- Develop training programs: Establish targeted training and certification programs for Al
 professionals and policymakers to ensure they have the necessary skills and expertise for
 Al development and governance.
- Support research and development: Invest in R&D to drive AI innovation, advance knowledge, and develop cutting-edge applications that benefit national development.
- Establish scholarships for underrepresented groups: Implement targeted scholarship programs to support individuals from diverse backgrounds in AI education and training.

3) Promote Responsible Al Investment

Investment is crucial for advancing technological capabilities, driving innovation, and ensuring effective implementation of AI applications across sectors. It can help boost economic growth, enhance competitiveness and facilitate international collaboration.

- Incentivize responsible AI research and development: Provide grants, tax incentives, or subsidies for projects that prioritize ethical considerations, sustainability, and social impact in AI research and development.
- Promote public-private partnerships: Foster collaboration between government, academia, and industry to develop and implement best practices for responsible AI and facilitate knowledge sharing and innovation.
- Al responsible innovation fund: Allocate funds to support startups and scale-ups developing Al technologies that advance the UN SDGs or other Al projects that aim to solve social and environmental matters. This fund could offer financial support, mentorship, and resources to Al-driven ventures that contribute to sustainable development and enhance social impact.

4) Inclusive Innovation and Representative Data

Promoting inclusive innovation ensures that AI technologies benefit all segments of society and address diverse requirements and perspectives. Representative data sets that reflect national identities, languages, and cultures are essential for developing AI systems that are inclusive and effective across diverse contexts.

Key considerations:

- Collect diverse data: Ensure that data collection reflects national diversity in language, culture, and socio-economic factors to develop AI systems that are inclusive and representative.
- Address data bias: Implement measures to identify and mitigate biases in data, ensuring Al technologies are fair and equitable across all demographic groups.
- Promote open data initiatives: Support initiatives that provide access to diverse and representative data sets, fostering transparency and broadening the scope of AI research and development.
- Encourage diverse teams: Foster diversity in AI research and development teams to incorporate a wide range of perspectives and expertise, enhancing innovation and inclusivity in AI solutions.
- Support inclusive research: Fund research and projects that focus on underserved communities and address diverse needs, ensuring that AI technologies serve all segments of society effectively.

5) Stakeholder collaboration

Collaboration between governments, the private sector, and civil society will be essential for the successful implementation of Al. By working together, these sectors can ensure that Al technologies address broad societal needs, adhere to ethical standards, drive innovation and deliver trustworthy outcomes. Cross-sector partnerships can provide the resources and expertise needed to develop Al solutions that meet diverse needs and are socially responsible. Such partnerships can foster a more comprehensive approach to Al, enhancing transparency, accountability, and the overall impact of Al initiatives.

- Establish collaborative platforms: Create formal platforms or forums where representatives from government, industry, and civil society can regularly meet to discuss Al developments, share insights, and coordinate efforts.
- Develop joint initiatives: Launch joint projects and initiatives that bring together resources and expertise from all sectors to tackle specific AI challenges and opportunities, ensuring that diverse perspectives are integrated.
- Promote transparent communication: Foster open and transparent communication channels among stakeholders to build trust, address concerns, and ensure that all voices are heard in AI policy and development discussions.
- Support multi-sector research: Encourage research collaborations that involve academics, industry professionals, and policymakers to explore innovative AI solutions and address complex societal issues from multiple angles.
- Create shared standards and guidelines: Develop and agree upon common standards and guidelines for AI development and implementation, ensuring consistency and alignment across sectors while respecting diverse interests.

6) Al Safety, Security and Human Rights

Ensuring AI safety and security helps prevent misuse, protects sensitive data, and safeguards systems against vulnerabilities. Upholding human rights within AI frameworks is vital for building public trust and protecting individual freedoms, ensuring that AI technologies are used ethically and responsibly.

Key considerations:

- Implement security protocols: Develop and enforce robust security protocols to protect Al systems from cyber threats and unauthorized access, ensuring system integrity and data protection.
- Conduct risk assessments: Regularly perform risk assessments to identify and address potential safety and security problems in AI systems, mitigating risks before they impact users
- Align Al policies with human rights standards: Ensure Al policies and practices are in line with international human rights standards, safeguarding individual freedoms and promoting ethical use.
- Monitor human rights impacts: Continuously assess the impact of AI technologies on human rights and take corrective actions to address any adverse effects, maintaining a focus on ethical implications.
- Promote secure and ethical development practices: Encourage secure coding practices, robust testing, and integration of human rights considerations into AI development and education to foster safe and ethical AI technologies.

7) Public Awareness and Engagement

Building trust, ensuring transparency, and promoting responsible use of AI technologies are crucial. By educating citizens and involving them in discussions, it fosters a more informed and supportive public. Engaging diverse perspectives improves AI systems' inclusivity and effectiveness, while also guiding policy development to align with societal values and expectations.

- Launch public education campaigns: Develop comprehensive educational campaigns to inform the public about AI technologies, their benefits, potential risks, and how they can impact daily life. Use various media channels to reach a broad audience and improve understanding.
- Launch pilot programs: Educate citizens about the benefits of AI in public services by launching pilot programs that showcase real-world applications of AI in areas like healthcare, transportation, and social services. By directly exposing the public to the tangible benefits of AI and involving them in its implementation, you can foster greater acceptance, trust, and engagement with AI technologies.
- Host public forums and workshops: Organize forums, workshops, and town hall meetings
 to engage citizens in discussions about AI strategy. These events allow the public to voice
 concerns, ask questions, and provide feedback on AI policies and initiatives.
- Collaborate with community organizations: Partner with local community organizations and advocacy groups to disseminate information and engage with diverse populations. These organizations can help tailor communication strategies to different communities and ensure broader outreach.

 Promote Al literacy programs: Integrate Al literacy into educational curricula and offer community-based learning opportunities to enhance understanding of Al. Equip individuals with the knowledge to interact responsibly with Al technologies and participate in informed discussions.

8) Sustainable Al Development

Ensuring that technological advancements are achieved without compromising environmental health or future resource availability is critical. By integrating sustainability into Al practices, it's possible to reduce the carbon footprint of Al systems at the outset, promote energy efficiency, and ensure that Al technologies are developed in an environmentally responsible manner.

- Promote energy-efficient AI technologies: Encourage the development and adoption of AI systems that use energy-efficient algorithms and hardware. Support research into low-energy AI solutions and set standards for energy consumption in AI technologies.
- Implement green data centers: Invest in and promote the use of data centers powered by renewable energy sources. Ensure that AI infrastructure is designed to minimize environmental impact by using sustainable practices and materials.
- Encourage sustainable AI research: Fund research projects focused on reducing the environmental impact of AI development and deployment. Support innovation in areas like efficient data processing and recycling of electronic waste.

Glossary

Algorithm: A set of instructions or rules that serve as the foundation of programming and software development, as they dictate how a particular problem should be approached and solved. Algorithms are used to process data, perform calculations, automate reasoning, or carry out other computational tasks.

Artificial intelligence (AI): The branch of computer science focused on creating systems capable of performing tasks that typically require human intelligence, such as reasoning, learning, problem-solving, and understanding natural language.

Artificial neural networks (ANNs): Computational models inspired by the human brain's structure and function. They consist of interconnected layers of nodes (neurons) that process and learn from data by adjusting the connections' weights through training, enabling tasks like pattern recognition, classification, and prediction.

Autonomous systems: Systems capable of performing tasks without human intervention, often relying on AI to make decisions in dynamic and uncertain environments. Examples include self-driving cars and drones.

Bias: Systematic errors in a model that lead to unfair or incorrect predictions, often due to imbalanced training data or flawed algorithms.

Big data: Large and complex data sets that are difficult to process using traditional data processing techniques. All and machine learning are often employed to analyze and extract meaningful insights from big data.

Deep learning: A subset of machine learning that uses neural networks with many layers (often called deep neural networks) to model complex patterns in data. It is particularly effective for tasks such as image and speech recognition.

Explainability: The extent to which the internal mechanics of an AI or machine learning system can be explained in human terms.

Foundation models: Large, pre-trained models, typically based on deep learning architectures, that can be fine-tuned for a wide range of downstream tasks. These models are trained on vast datasets and provide a general-purpose understanding that can be adapted for specific applications, such as language processing or image recognition.

Generative artificial intelligence (GenAl): A class of artificial intelligence models that can create new content, such as text, images, music, or code, by learning patterns from existing data. Unlike traditional AI models, which primarily focus on recognizing patterns or making predictions based on input data, generative AI is designed to produce novel outputs that resemble the training data.

Generative pre-trained transformer (GPT): A type of large language model pre-trained on vast amounts of text data and can generate coherent, contextually relevant text, making them useful for tasks like text completion, translation, and conversation.

Hallucination: An occurrence where the AI model generates information or content that is factually incorrect, nonsensical, or not based on the data it was trained, presenting them as though they were true.

Al for Good

Interoperability: The ability of different systems, software applications, or devices to communicate, work together and exchange information seamlessly, without compatibility issues, even if they were developed by different organizations or for different purposes.

Large language models (LLMs): A type of Al trained on a large amount of text data designed to understand and generate human-like text.

Machine learning (ML): A subset of AI that involves the development of algorithms and statistical models that enable computers to learn from and make predictions or decisions based on data without being explicitly programmed.

Natural language processing (NLP): A branch of Al that focuses on the interaction between computers and human language. It involves enabling machines to understand, interpret, and generate human language in a meaningful way.

Neural network: A computational model inspired by the human brain, consisting of layers of interconnected nodes (neurons) that process input data to produce an output. Neural networks are the foundation of deep learning.

Symbolic Al: An approach to artificial intelligence that uses symbols or concepts, rather than numerical data to represent knowledge and logical rules to manipulate these symbols for reasoning and problem-solving.

Training Data: The dataset used to train an Al or machine learning model. The quality and quantity of training data significantly impact the model's performance.

Transfer learning: A machine learning technique where a model trained on one task is reused or adapted for a different but related task. It's particularly useful when there is limited data available for the new task.

Authors & Contributors

Dr. Björn Bringmann

Al Institute lead, Deloitte Germany

Dr. Sarah J. Becker

Digital Ethics Lead Europe, Deloitte Germany

Costi Perricos

Institute lead, Deloitte Global

Julius N. Hill

EMEA International Affairs & Development lead, Deloitte Switzerland

Contributors from Deloitte

Younes Ben Makhlouf

Director, Al Insights Lead Deloitte Switzerland

Kristof Descotes

Senior Consultant, Al & Data Deloitte Switzerland

Julia Marie Kotzorek

Senior Consultant, Digital Ethics & Al Governance Deloitte Germany

Marcel Hebert

Consultant, Digital Ethics Deloitte Germany

Deborah de Wolff

Senior Consultant, Sustainability Deloitte Switzerland

Kristi Egerth

Senior Manager, Strategic Growth Offering Marketing Lead Deloitte Switzerland

Mosche Orth

Manager, Deloitte EU Policy Centre Deloitte Germany

Isabelle Karoline Schlegel

Manager, Digital Ethics & Al Governance Deloitte Germany

This AI for Good Impact Report was written in collaboration with the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) and The Deloitte AI Institute™.

About the report

The AI for Good Impact Report provides an overview of AI's role in achieving the SDGs, including trends, indicators, and Deloitte's latest research. Emphasising trustworthy, responsible, and equitable AI, the annual report explores governance frameworks and sustainable AI transformation, highlighting positive impacts on the SDGs while managing associated risks. With a focus on AI trends, including trust, talent, gaps, governance, responsibility, and ethics, the report offers valuable insights and guidance for the evolving AI landscape.

About ITU

The International Telecommunication Union (ITU) is the United Nations specialized agency for information and communication technologies (ICTs), driving innovation in ICTs together with 193 Member States and a membership of over 1,000 companies, universities, and international and regional organizations. Established in 1865, it is the intergovernmental body responsible for coordinating the shared global use of the radio spectrum, promoting international cooperation in assigning satellite orbits, improving communication infrastructure in the developing world, and establishing the worldwide standards that foster seamless interconnection of a vast range of communications systems. From broadband networks to cutting-edge wireless technologies, aeronautical and maritime navigation, radio astronomy, oceanographic and satellite-based earth monitoring as well as converging fixed-mobile phone, Internet and broadcasting technologies, ITU is committed to connecting the world. Learn more: www.itu.int

About The Deloitte Al Institute

The Deloitte AI Institute™ helps organizations connect all the different dimensions of the robust, highly dynamic and rapidly evolving AI ecosystem. The AI Institute leads conversations on applied AI innovation across industries, using cutting-edge insights to promote human-machine collaboration in the Age of With™. The Deloitte AI Institute aims to promote dialogue about and development of artificial intelligence, stimulate innovation, and examine challenges to AI implementation and ways to address them. The AI Institute collaborates with an ecosystem composed of academic research groups, startups, entrepreneurs, innovators, mature AI product leaders and AI visionaries to explore key areas of artificial intelligence including risks, policies, ethics, future of work and talent, and applied AI use cases. Combined with Deloitte's deep knowledge and experience in artificial intelligence applications, the institute helps make sense of this complex ecosystem and, as a result, delivers impactful perspectives to help organizations succeed by making informed AI decisions.

Endnotes

- Anoyha, R. (2017), *The History of Artificial Intelligence*, retrieved from <u>The History of Artificial Intelligence</u> <u>Science in the News (harvard.edu)</u>
- Heaven, W. D., (2024), What is Al? Everyone thinks they know but no one can agree. And that's a problem., retrieved from What is Al? | MIT Technology Review
- Grobelnik, M., Perset, K., Russell, S., (2024), What is Al? Can you make a clear distinction between Al and non-Al systems?, retrieved from https://oecd.ai/en/wonk/definition
- Bruce-Lockhart, A., (2022), What is AI? Top computer scientist Stuart Russell explains in this video interview, retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/06/what-is-ai-stuart-russell-expert-explains-video/
- Srikanth, (2024), *Most Surprising Applications of AI in Our Everyday Life*, retrieved from <u>The Surprising Daily Applications of Artificial Intelligence (techiexpert.com)</u>
- ⁶ A glossary of commonly used terms in the field of AI can be found on page xx.
- DataCamp Team, (2023), What is Symbolic Al?, retrieved from What is Symbolic Al? DataCamp
- ⁸ European Parliament, (2020), Artificial intelligence: How does it work, why does it matter, and what can we do about it?
- ⁹ European Parliament, (2020), Artificial intelligence: How does it work, why does it matter, and what can we do about it?
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter three report
- Deloitte, (2023), A new frontier in artificial intelligence Implications of Generative AI for businesses
- Deloitte, (2022), State of Al in the Enterprise, 5th Edition, German Cut
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter three report
- ¹⁴ Precedence Research
- Al for Good, (2024), Frontiers in personal neurotech: Enhancing focus, meditation, and brain health through innovative monitoring and therapeutics, retrieved from Frontiers in personal neurotech: Enhancing focus, meditation, and brain health through innovative monitoring and therapeutics Al for Good (itu.int)
- Das, S., (2020), How Sankara Eye Hospital Is Using Al For Diabetic Retinopathy Detection, retrieved from How Sankara Eye Hospital Is Using Al For Diabetic Retinopathy Detection
- WEF, (2022), Why artificial intelligence is vital in the race to meet the SDGs, retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/05/artificial-intelligence-sustainable-development-goals/
- Pharos iBio, (2021), *The Chemiverse platform: Al and big data-based drug discovery and development*, retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/d43747-021-00036-8
- ¹⁹ AFDB, (2022), How Rwanda is using Artificial Intelligence to improve healthcare, retrieved from How Rwanda is using Artificial Intelligence to improve healthcare

- Saavedra, J. et al., (2024), Educating for the present and the future: using Artificial Intelligence (AI) to address the learning crisis, retrieved from Educating for the (present and) future: using Artificial Intelligence (AI) to address the learning crisis (worldbank.org)
- Newton, C., (2016), Can AI fix education? We asked Bill Gates, retrieved from https://www.theverge.com/2016/4/25/11492102/bill-gates-interview-education-software-artificial-intelligence
- ²² Anderson, (2024), How AI helped overcome the Education Gap with this Pilot Project in Rwanda A Story of Hope, retrieved from How AI helped overcome the Education Gap with this Pilot Project in Rwanda A Story of Hope | by Anderson | Medium
- Vincent, J., (2024), *How much electricity does AI consume?*, retrieved from <u>How much electricity do AI generators consume?</u> The Verge
- Stark, F., (2020), Fighting climate change with artificial intelligence, retrieved from Fighting climate change with artificial intelligence Magazine of the Fraunhofer Institute for Cognitive Systems IKS
- SAP, (2024), The smart grid: How AI is powering today's energy technologies, retrieved from The Smart Grid: How AI is Powering Today's Energy Technologies | SAP
- ²⁶ Barroso, L. A., Ferreira, R., (2016), Smart Grids in Latin America: Current Stance of Development and Future Perspectives, retrieved from <u>Smart Grids in Latin America: Current</u> <u>Stance of Development and Future Perspectives - IEEE Smart Grid</u>
- Yao, Z., & Al., (2022), Machine learning for a sustainable energy future, retrieved from Machine learning for a sustainable energy future | Nature Reviews Materials
- Deloitte, (2023), On solid ground: AgTech is driving sustainable farming and is expected to harvest US\$18 billion in 2024 revenues, retrieved from <u>Agriculture technology | Deloitte Insights</u>
- ²⁹ Chhatpar, R., Khare, V., Seth, A., (2021), *A case for Al-enabled water management*, retrieved from A case for Al-enabled water management (indiaai.gov.in)
- Bao, Y., Hilary, G., Ke, B., (2022), Artificial Intelligence and Fraud Detection. In: Babich, V., Birge, J.R., Hilary, G. (eds), Innovative Technology at the Interface of Finance and Operations. Springer Series in Supply Chain Management, vol 11, Springer, Cham, retrieved from Artificial Intelligence and Fraud Detection | SpringerLink
- FasterCapital, (2024), Microfinance artificial intelligence: Driving Financial Inclusion: Al Applications in Microfinance for Entrepreneurs, retrieved from https://fastercapital.com/content/Microfinance-artificial-intelligence--Driving-Financial-Inclusion--Al-Applications-in-Microfinance-for-Entrepreneurs.html
- Santosdiaz, R., (2024), Mongolia's Fintech Future: Building a Digital Economy in a Land of Contrasts, retrieved from Mongolia's Fintech Future: Building a Digital Economy in a Land of Contrasts | The Fintech Times
- Morning Consult, (2023), *IBM Global AI Adoption Index Enterprise Report*, retrieved from IBM Global Ai Adoption Index - Enterprise Report
- Morning Consult, (2023), IBM Global Al Adoption Index Enterprise Report, retrieved from IBM Global Ai Adoption Index - Enterprise Report

- Goldman Sachs, (2023), *Generative AI could raise global GDP by 7%*, retrieved from Generative AI could raise global GDP by 7% | Goldman Sachs
- Toseland, M., (2024), Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology, retrieved from Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology · PA Life
- Berrospi, G., (2024), *Three Ways To Invest In The AI Revolution*, retrieved from <u>Three Ways To Invest In The AI Revolution</u> (forbes.com)
- ³⁸ Guerini, R., (2024), *In AI funding and research, China and US outperform Europe*, retrieved from <u>In AI funding and research, China and US outperform Europe | Science|Business (sciencebusiness.net)</u>
- Al policy challenges The Hindu BusinessLine
- Toseland, M., (2024), Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology, retrieved from Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology · PA <u>Life</u>
- Muneer, M., (2024), *Al policy challenges*, retrieved from <u>Al policy challenges The Hindu</u>
 <u>BusinessLine</u>
- Toseland, M., (2024), Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology, retrieved from Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology · PA Life
- Muneer, M., (2024), *Al policy challenges*, retrieved from <u>Al policy challenges The Hindu</u>
 BusinessLine
- Cabral, A. R., (2024), Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race?, retrieved from Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race? | The National (thenationalnews.com)
- ⁴⁵ Cabral, A. R., (2024), Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race?, retrieved from Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race? | The National (thenationalnews.com)
- Cabral, A. R., (2024), Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race?, retrieved from Where does the Middle East stand in the global AI funding race? | The National (thenationalnews.com)
- Copeland, R., Farrell, M., (2024), Saudi Arabia Plans \$40 Billion Push Into Artificial Intelligence, retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2024/03/19/business/saudi-arabia-investment-artificial-intelligence.html
- Toseland, M., (2024), Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology, retrieved from Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology · PA <u>Life</u>
- ⁴⁹ Stewart, H., (2024), Clustering of Al firms in south and east of England will foil levelling up report, retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2024/apr/16/clustering-of-ai-firms-in-south-and-east-of-england-will-foil-levelling-up-report
- Toseland, M., (2024), Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology, retrieved from Al investments by country: Who will dominate the future of technology · PA Life

Al for Good

- Agwaibor, S., (2024), African Al Startups: Navigating growth amidst infrastructure gaps, retrieved from African Al Startups: Navigating growth amidst infrastructure gaps
- GIZ, (2024), FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All, retrieved from FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All
- GIZ, (2024), FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All, retrieved from FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All
- hi ventures, (2024), State of Al. Latin America, 2024, retrieved from hi VC State of Al. Latin America 2024
- 55 Stanford University, (2024), The Al Index 2024 Annual Report
- 56 Stanford University, (2024), The Al Index 2024 Annual Report
- 57 Stanford University, (2024), The Al Index 2024 Annual Report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise quarter three report -August 2024, retrieved from https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/consulting/articles/state-of-qenerative-ai-in-enterprise.html
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2023), Generative AI and the future of work
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter three report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative Al in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2024), State of Generative AI in the Enterprise Quarter two report
- Deloitte, (2023), Generative AI and the future of work
- Deloitte, (2023), *Is your AI center of excellence still a center of experimentation?*, retrieved from https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/consulting/us-is-your-ai-center-of-excellence-still-center-of-experimentation.pdf
- ⁶⁹ Deloitte, (2023), Generative AI and the future of work
- Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- Gmyrek, P., Berg, J., Bescond, D., (2023), International Labour Organization Working Paper 96, Generative AI and jobs: A global analysis of potential effects on job quantity and quality, retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/files/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@inst/documents/publication/wcms 890761.pdf
- Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- ⁷⁴ Deloitte Insights, (2024), *Global Human Capital Trends*
- Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- Deloitte, (2023), Generative Al and the Future of Work
- ⁷⁷ Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends

- Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- Deloitte, (2023), Generative AI and the Future of Work
- ⁸⁰ Deloitte Insights, (2024), Global Human Capital Trends
- ⁸¹ ITU Interview with Janine Berg, Senior Economist, International Labour Organization (2024)
- Deloitte, (2023), Beyond productivity: The journey to the quantified organization
- UN, (2024), Governing AI for Humanity: Final Report, retrieved from https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/governing_ai_for_humanity_final_report_en.pdf
- ITU, (2024), *ITU-T*: Setting the standard, retrieved from https://www.itu.int/en/mediacentre/backgrounders/Pages/itu-t-setting-the-standard.aspx
- Universal Postal Union, (2024), *Standards*, retrieved from https://www.upu.int/en/postal-solutions/programmes-services/standards
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan, (2023), Hiroshima Process International Code of Conduct for Organizations Developing Advanced AI Systems, retrieved from https://www.mofa.go.ip/files/100573473.pdf
- United Kingdom Al Safety Institute, retrieved from https://www.aisi.gov.uk/
- UK Government, (2024), *AI Seoul Summit 2024*, retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/ai-seoul-summit-2024
- ⁸⁹ U.S Safety Institute, retrieved from <u>U.S. Artificial Intelligence Safety Institute | NIST</u>
- ⁹⁰ Artificial Intelligence Governance & Safety Canada, retrieved from https://aigs.ca/
- ⁹¹ Japan AlSI, retrieved from <u>AlSI Japan Al Safety Institute</u>
- Na-young, K., (2024), S. Korea to establish Al safety institute this year: science minister, retrieved from S. Korea to establish Al safety institute this year: science minister | Yonhap News Agency (yna.co.kr)
- ⁹³ Singapore Trust Centre, retrieved from <u>Digital Trust Centre (DTC) | NTU Singapore</u>
- 94 Al Action Summit 2025, retrieved from https://www.elysee.fr/en/ai-action-summit
- 95 OECD: https://oecd.ai/en/wonk/definition
- ⁹⁶ ISO, retrieved from <u>ISO International Organization for Standardization</u>
- ⁹⁷ IEC, retrieved from Who we are (iec.ch)
- 98 ISO/IEC 22989:2022, retrieved from <u>ISO/IEC 22989:2022(en)</u>, <u>Information technology Artificial intelligence Artificial intelligence concepts and terminology</u>
- 99 ISO/IEC JTC 1, retrieved from <u>ISO/IEC JTC 1 Information technology</u>
- ¹⁰⁰ ITU-T Y.3172, retrieved from <u>Y.3172</u>: Architectural framework for machine learning in future networks including IMT-2020 (itu.int)
- ¹⁰¹ Council of Europe, (2024), Council of Europe adopts first international treaty on artificial intelligence, retrieved from https://www.coe.int/en/web/portal/-/council-of-europe-adopts-first-international-treaty-on-artificial-intelligence
- Personal Data Protection Commission Singapore, (2019), Singapore's Approach to Al Governance, retrieved from PDPC|Singapore's Approach to Al Governance

- UK Department for Science, Innovation and Technology and Office for Artificial Intelligence, (2023), AI regulation: a pro-innovation approach, retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ai-regulation-a-pro-innovation-approach
- The State Council The People's Republic of China, (2024), China releases security governance framework concerning AI, retrieved from https://english.www.gov.cn/news/202409/10/content-WS66df9f30c6d0868f4e8eac91.html
- Personal Information Protection Law China, retrieved from <u>Personal Information Protection</u> <u>Law of the People's Republic of China (cdurl.cn)</u>
- Data Security Law China, retrieved from <u>Data Security Law of the People's Republic of China</u> (npc.gov.cn)
- Gen Al Regulation China, retrieved from China moves to support generative Al, regulate applications (www.gov.cn)
- DADM Canada, retrieved from <u>Directive on Automated Decision-Making-Canada.ca</u>
- ¹⁰⁹ AIDA Canada, retrieved from <u>The Artificial Intelligence and Data Act (AIDA) Companion</u> document (canada.ca)
- OECD.AI, (2021), powered by EC/OECD (2021), database of national AI policies, retrieved from OECD's live repository of AI strategies & policies OECD.AI
- ITU, (2024), AI Governance Day From Principles to Implementation, retrieved from https://s41721.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/2401225 AI Governance Day 2024
 Report-E.pdf
- Deloitte, (2024), Digital Ethics to Master Complexity: Navigating Al and Technology, retrieved from https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/de/Documents/human-capital/Deloitte-Digital-Ethics-to-Master-Complexity.pdf
- Immuta, (2024), *The AI Security & Governance Report*, retrieved from <u>The AI Security & Governance Report | Immuta</u>
- UK Gov, (2024), Cyber security risks to artificial intelligence, retrieved from <u>Cyber security</u> risks to artificial intelligence GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- EU, (2018), General data protection regulation (GDPR), retrieved from <u>General data</u> protection regulation (GDPR) | <u>EUR-Lex (europa.eu)</u>
- Sartor, G., (2020), The impact of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on artificial intelligence, retrieved from EPRS_STU(2020)641530_EN.pdf (europa.eu)
- Jones, A., (2022), GDPR Three Years Later: What Impact Has It Made?, retrieved from GDPR Three Years Later: What Impact Has It Made? (ispartnersllc.com)
- Deloitte, (2020), *A quick reference guide for CCPA compliance*, retrieved from <u>A Quick Reference Guide for CCPA Compliance | Deloitte US</u>
- Paka, A., (2020), How Does The CCPA Impact Your AI?, retrieved from How Does The CCPA Impact Your AI? (forbes.com)
- Webster, G., (2017), Full Translation: China's 'New Generation Artificial Intelligence Development Plan', retrieved from Full Translation: China's 'New Generation Artificial Intelligence Development Plan' (2017) (stanford.edu)

- ¹²¹ IndiaAI, (2020), Government launches "Responsible AI for Youth" program, retrieved from Government launches "Responsible AI for Youth" program (indiaai.gov.in)
- ¹²² Truby, J., (2020), Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals (wiley.com)
- ¹²³ Japanese Gov, (2022), Al Strategy 2022, retrieved from <u>Al Strategy 2022 (cao.go.jp)</u> (Translated)
- E-Estonia, (2020), *New e-Estonia factsheet: National Al "Kratt" Strategy*, retrieved from <u>New e-Estonia factsheet: National Al "Kratt" Strategy e-Estonia</u>
- ¹²⁵ E-Estonia, (2020),
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Dastin, J., (2018), Insight Amazon scraps secret AI recruiting tool that showed bias against women, retrieved from Insight Amazon scraps secret AI recruiting tool that showed bias against women | Reuters
- Larson, J., & al, (2016), How We Analyzed the COMPAS Recidivism Algorithm, retrieved from How We Analyzed the COMPAS Recidivism Algorithm ProPublica
- Lee, D., (2016), *Tay: Microsoft issues apology over racist chatbot fiasco*, retrieved from <u>Tay:</u> <u>Microsoft issues apology over racist chatbot fiasco BBC News</u>
- WEF, (2023), Why AI bias may be easier to fix than humanity's, retrieved from AI bias may be easier to fix than humanity's. Here's why | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- European Commission, (2019), High-Level Expert Group On Artificial Intelligence, retrieved from <u>europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/196377/Al HLEG Ethics Guidelines for Trustworthy Al.pdf</u>
- UNESCO, (2023), Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence, retrieved from 381137eng.pdf (unesco.org)
- ¹³³ Truby, J., (2020), Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals (wiley.com)
- GIZ, (2024), FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All, retrieved from FAIR Forward Artificial Intelligence for All giz.de
- OECD AI, (2021), *Brazilian Ai Strategy*, retrieved from <u>BRAZILIAN AI STRATEGY Policy</u> OECD.AI
- ¹³⁶ Crawford, K., (2024), Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret, retrieved from Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret (nature. com)
- Renato Laranjeira de Pereira, J., (2024), *The EU AI Act and environmental protection: the case for a missed opportunity*, retrieved from The EU AI Act and environmental protection: the case for a missed opportunity | Heinrich Böll Stiftung | Brussels office European Union (boell.org)

- OECD AI, (2023), Will businesses or laws and regulations ever prioritise environmental sustainability for AI systems?, retrieved from Will businesses or laws and regulations ever prioritise environmental sustainability for AI systems? OECD.AI
- GPAI, (2022), A responsible AI strategy for the environment, retrieved from A responsible AI strategy for the environment GPAI
- UN, (2024), *The 17 Goals*, retrieved from <u>THE 17 GOALS | Sustainable Development (un. org)</u>
- UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- Stockholm Resilience Centre, (2023), *The Planet Boundaries*, retrieved from <u>Planetary boundaries</u> Stockholm Resilience Centre
- ETH, (2024), SDG Monitor, retrieved from SDG Monitor (ethz.ch)
- Nahar, S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting, retrieved from Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting - ScienceDirect
- Mckinsey & Company, (2024), Al for social good: Improving lives and protecting the planet, retrieved from Al for social good in sustainable development goals | McKinsey
- ESA, (2024), New satellite demonstrates the power of AI for Earth observation, retrieved from ESA New satellite demonstrates the power of AI for Earth observation
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ¹⁴⁸ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN (2024), Sustainable Development Goals: Goal 1 Overview, retrieved from Goal 1 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN (2024), Sustainable Development Goals: Goal 1 Progress 2024, retrieved from Goal 1 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ¹⁵² Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- ¹⁵³ Nahar S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting.
- ¹⁵⁴ Margaret A. Goralski, Tay Keong Tan, (2022), Artificial intelligence and poverty alleviation: Emerging innovations and their implications for management education and sustainable development
- ¹⁵⁵ Truby, J., (2020), Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals (wiley.com)

- ¹⁵⁶ ITU, (2024), Al for Good Innovate for Impact, retrieved from Al for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- IMF Blog, (2020), How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations, retrieved from How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations (imf.org)
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- IMF Blog, (2020), How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations, retrieved from How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations (imf.org)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 2 Overview, retrieved from Goal 2 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 2 Progress, retrieved from Goal 2 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UNU, (2924), Artificial Intelligence Can Transform Global Food Security and Climate Action, retrieved from Artificial Intelligence Can Transform Global Food Security and Climate Action United Nations University (unu.edu)
- ¹⁶⁸ Forbes, (2024), *The Future Of Farming: Al Innovations That Are Transforming Agriculture*, retrieved from <u>The Future Of Farming: Al Innovations That Are Transforming Agriculture</u> (forbes.com)
- Mon, S., & Al., (2024), Al-enhanced real-time cattle identification system through tracking across various environments, retrieved from Al-enhanced real-time cattle identification system through tracking across various environments | Scientific Reports (nature.com)
- UNEP, (2024), UNEP Food Waste Index Report 2024 Key Messages, retrieved from wedocs .unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/45275/Food-Waste-Index-2024-key-messages .pdf?sequence=8&isAllowed=y
- ¹⁷¹ Infosys BPM, (2024), *Using artificial intelligence to tackle food waste*, retrieved from <u>Transforming Food Waste Management with AI | Infosys BPM</u>
- NewsYale, (2024), Waste watchers: Using AI to minimize food waste in Yale's dining halls, retrieved from Waste watch: In Yale's dining halls, AI tracks uneaten food | YaleNews
- ¹⁷³ Infosys BPM, (2024), *Using artificial intelligence to tackle food waste*, retrieved from <u>Transforming Food Waste Management with AI | Infosys BPM</u>
- 174 ITU, (2024), Al for Good Innovate for Impact, retrieved from Al for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report 2024 (itu.int)

- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ¹⁷⁶ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- ¹⁷⁸ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- ¹⁷⁹ Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- ¹⁸¹ How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations (imf.org)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN, (2024), *Goal 3 Overview*, retrieved from <u>Goal 3 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- ¹⁸⁴ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Al-Antari M., (2023), Artificial Intelligence for Medical Diagnostics—Existing and Future Al Technology!, retrieved from Artificial Intelligence for Medical Diagnostics—Existing and Future Al Technology! PMC (nih.gov)
- WEF, (2022), Why artificial intelligence is vital in the race to meet the SDGs, retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/05/artificial-intelligence-sustainable-development-goals/
- Al for Good, (2024), Reconnecting ALS patients with their loved ones, retrieved from Reconnecting ALS patients with their loved ones Al for Good (itu.int)
- ¹⁸⁹ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Al for Good, (2024), Frontiers in personal neurotech: Enhancing focus, meditation, and brain health through innovative monitoring and therapeutics, retrieved from Frontiers in personal neurotech: Enhancing focus, meditation, and brain health through innovative monitoring and therapeutics Al for Good (itu.int)
- WEF, (2018), Four ways AI can make healthcare more efficient and affordable, retrieved from Four ways AI can slash healthcare costs around the world | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- ¹⁹² Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- ¹⁹³ ISHN, (2024), AI can trigger psychological side effects, retrieved from <u>AI can trigger</u> psychological side effects | ISHN
- Ettman, C., & , Galea, S., (2023), The Potential Influence of AI on Population Mental Health, retrieved from The Potential Influence of AI on Population Mental Health PMC (nih.gov)

- Murdoch, B., (2021), *Privacy and artificial intelligence: challenges for protecting health information in a new era*, retrieved from <u>Privacy and artificial intelligence: challenges for protecting health information in a new era | BMC Medical Ethics | Full Text (biomedcentral. com)</u>
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from <u>The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications</u>
- ¹⁹⁷ WHO, (2021), WHO issues first global report on Artificial Intelligence (AI) in health and six guiding principles for its design and use, retrieved from WHO issues first global report on Artificial Intelligence (AI) in health and six guiding principles for its design and use
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN, (2024), SDG 4 Overview, retrieved from Goal 4 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), SDG 4 Progress, retrieved from Goal 4 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ²⁰¹ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ²⁰³ Al for Good, (2024), Explore Al EdTech innovation: Interactive robotics experience for education and inspiration, retrieved from Explore Al EdTech innovation: Interactive robotics experience for education and inspiration Al for Good (itu.int)
- ²⁰⁴ Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- Knight, S., & Al., (2018), School Functioning in Adolescents With Chronic Fatigue Syndrome, retrieved from <u>School Functioning in Adolescents With Chronic Fatigue Syndrome PMC (nih.gov)</u>
- ²⁰⁷ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- World Bank Blogs, (2024), Educating for the present and the future: using Artificial Intelligence (AI) to address the learning crisis, retrieved from Educating for the (present and) future: using Artificial Intelligence (AI) to address the learning crisis (worldbank.org)
- UNESCO, (2019), How can artificial intelligence enhance education?, retrieved from How can artificial intelligence enhance education? | UNESCO
- ²¹⁰ Al for Good, (2024), Navigating the ethical and technical challenges of Al with regards to data privacy, bias, harm and accuracy, retrieved from Navigating the ethical and technical challenges of Al with regards to data privacy, bias, harm and accuracy Al for Good (itu.int)
- UNICEF, (2024), *Gateways to Public Digital Learning*, retrieved from <u>Gateways to Public Digital Learning | UNICEF Digital Education</u>

- UNESCO, (2021), Al and education: guidance for policy-makers, retrieved from Al and education: guidance for policy-makers UNESCO Digital Library
- ²¹³ ETH, (2024), SDG Monitor, retrieved from <u>SDG Monitor (ethz.ch)</u>
- Goal 5 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ²¹⁵ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- PWC, (2024), How Al is being adopted to accelerate gender equity in the workplace, retrieved from How Al is accelerating gender equity in the workplace | PwC
- ²¹⁸ USAID, (2024), Artificial intelligence, toward new horizons in the fight against gender-based violence, retrieved from <u>Artificial intelligence</u>, toward new horizons in the fight against gender-based violence (infosegura.org)
- University of Oxford, (2024), *AI*, automation in the home and its impact on women, retrieved from <u>AI</u>, automation in the home and its impact on women | University of Oxford
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- WEF, (2022), Why we must act now to close the gender gap in AI, retrieved from Why we must act now to close the digital gender gap in AI | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- France 24, (2024), AI tools by OpenAI and Meta generate sexist content, UNESCO warns, retrieved from AI tools by OpenAI and Meta generate sexist content, UNESCO warns (france24.com)
- Willing, N., (2023), The Challenges of Al Algorithm Bias in Financial Services, retrieved from The Challenges of Al Algorithm Bias in Financial Services - Techopedia
- The Children's Society, (2023), Artificial Intelligence, body image and toxic expectations, retrieved from Artificial Intelligence, body image and toxic expectations | The Children's Society (childrenssociety.org.uk)
- UNESCO, (2024), *Ethics of Artificial Intelligence*, retrieved from <u>Ethics of Artificial Intelligence</u> <u>UNESCO</u>
- WEF, (2022), Why we must act now to close the gender gap in AI, retrieved from Why we must act now to close the digital gender gap in AI | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 6 Overview, retrieved from Goal 6 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 6 Progress, retrieved from Goal 6 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)

- ²³¹ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI), retrieved from United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU
- Water Intelligence, (2019), *Using AI to Diagnose Water Consumption Patterns*, retrieved from <u>Using AI to Diagnose Water Consumption Patterns</u> <u>WINT</u>
- Autodesk, (2022), Al for water: 10 ways Al is changing the water industry, retrieved from Al for water: 10 ways Al is changing the water industry One Water Blog (autodesk.com)
- Google Research, (2024), *Using AI to expand global access to reliable flood forecasts*, retrieved from <u>Using AI to expand global access to reliable flood forecasts (research.google)</u>
- WSP, (2023), Five Ways Artificial Intelligence Is Going to Shape the Future of Water and Resilient Infrastructure, retrieved from Five Ways Artificial Intelligence Is Shaping Future of Water and Resilient Infrastructure (wsp.com)
- Wahal, A., (2023), As our planet warms, artificial intelligence could help quench the thirst of billions facing water scarcity, retrieved from <u>Artificial Intelligence could help billions facing</u> water scarcity (planetforward.org)
- WSP, (2023), Five Ways Artificial Intelligence Is Going to Shape the Future of Water and Resilient Infrastructure, retrieved from Five Ways Artificial Intelligence Is Shaping Future of Water and Resilient Infrastructure (wsp.com)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Wahal, A., (2023), As our planet warms, artificial intelligence could help quench the thirst of billions facing water scarcity, retrieved from <u>Artificial Intelligence could help billions facing</u> water scarcity (planetforward.org)
- ²⁴¹ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Lifewater, (2014), *Water and Poverty: How Access to Safe Water Reduces Poverty*, retrieved from Water and Poverty: How Access to Safe Water Reduces Poverty Lifewater International
- ²⁴³ Crawford, K., (2024), Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret, retrieved from Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret (nature. com)
- Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- ²⁴⁶ Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)

- UN, (2024), Goal 7 Overview, retrieved from Goal 7 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 7 Progress, retrieved from Goal 7 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ²⁵⁰ Crawford, K., (2024), Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret, retrieved from Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret (nature. com)
- ²⁵¹ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ²⁵³ SAP, (2024), *The smart grid: How AI is powering today's energy technologies*, retrieved from The Smart Grid: How AI is Powering Today's Energy Technologies | SAP
- ²⁵⁴ IBM, (2021), Accelerate efficiency gains with optimization and AI, retrieved from Accelerate efficiency gains with optimization and AI IBM Blog
- Thangam, D., & Al., (2024), Impact of Data Centers on Power Consumption, Climate Change, and Sustainability, retrieved from (PDF) Impact of Data Centers on Power Consumption, Climate Change, and Sustainability (researchgate.net)
- ²⁵⁶ Al for Good, (2024), Al and fusion, retrieved from Al and fusion Al for Good (itu.int)
- Yao, Z., & Al., (2022), Machine learning for a sustainable energy future, retrieved from Machine learning for a sustainable energy future | Nature Reviews Materials
- ²⁵⁸ Matuszak, J., (2024), *The Role of Al in Energy Management and Optimisation*, retrieved from The Role of Al in Energy Management and Optimisation KnowHow (distrelec.com)
- ²⁵⁹ SCIAM, (2023), *The AI Boom Could Use a Shocking Amount of Electricity*, retrieved from The AI Boom Could Use a Shocking Amount of Electricity | Scientific American
- ²⁶⁰ Euronews, (2024), Natural gas prices surge as artificial intelligence boom raises demand, retrieved from Natural gas prices surge as artificial intelligence boom raises demand | Euronews
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- UN, (2024), Goal 8 Overview, retrieved from Goal 8 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 8 Progress, retrieved from Goal 8 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ²⁶⁶ Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals

- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from <u>The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the</u> Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- ²⁶⁸ ITU, (2024), *AI for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>AI for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ²⁷⁰ McKinsey Global Institute, (2018), Notes from the AI frontier: Modeling the impact of AI on the world economy, retrieved from Modeling the global economic impact of AI | McKinsey
- Wigglesworth, R., (2024), Daron Acemoglu is not having all this AI hype, retrieved from Daron Acemoglu is not having all this AI hype (ft.com)
- ²⁷² International Resource Panel, (2024), *Global Resources Outlook 2024*, retrieved from <u>Global Resources Outlook 2024 | UNEP UN Environment Programme</u>
- Shen, Y., & Zhang, X., (2024), The impact of artificial intelligence on employment: the role of virtual agglomeration, retrieved from The impact of artificial intelligence on employment: the role of virtual agglomeration | Humanities and Social Sciences Communications (nature. com)
- ²⁷⁴ Truby, J., (2020), Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals (wiley.com)
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- UN, (2024), *Goal 9 Overview*, retrieved from <u>Goal 9 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- ²⁷⁸ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from <u>The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications</u>
- ²⁸¹ ITU, (2024), *AI for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>AI for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Van Noorden, R. & Perkel J., (2023), *Al and science: what 1,600 researchers think*, retrieved from <u>Al and science: what 1,600 researchers think (nature.com)</u>

- Nahar S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a crosscountry setting
- ²⁸⁵ International Review of the Red Cross, (2021), *AI for humanitarian action: Human rights and ethics*, retrieved from <u>AI for humanitarian action: Human rights and ethics | International Review of the Red Cross (icrc.org)</u>
- MIT Technology Review, (2024), *Taking AI to the next level in manufacturing*, retrieved from Taking AI to the next level in manufacturing | MIT Technology Review
- ²⁸⁷ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from <u>The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications</u>
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- UN, (2024), Goal 10 Overview, retrieved from Goal 10 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), *Goal 10 Progress*, retrieved from <u>Goal 10 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- ²⁹³ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ²⁹⁶ Global Compact on Refugees, (2022), *Emergency Response Chatbots*, retrieved from <u>Emergency Response Chatbots</u> | <u>The Global Compact on Refugees | UNHCR (globalcompactrefugees.org)</u>
- ²⁹⁷ IMF Blog, (2020), How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations, retrieved from How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations (imf.org)
- Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from <u>The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ³⁰⁰ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- International Review of the Red Cross, (2022), Harnessing the potential of artificial intelligence for humanitarian action: Opportunities and risks, retrieved from Harnessing the potential of

- artificial intelligence for humanitarian action: Opportunities and risks | International Review of the Red Cross (icrc.org)
- IMF Blog, (2020), How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations, retrieved from How Artificial Intelligence Could Widen the Gap Between Rich and Poor Nations (imf.org)
- UNESCO, (2024), *Ethics of Artificial Intelligence*, retrieved from <u>Ethics of Artificial Intelligence</u> <u>LUNESCO</u>
- ETH, (2024), SDG Monitor, retrieved from SDG Monitor (ethz.ch)
- UN, (2024), Goal 11 Overview, retrieved from Goal 11 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- Herath, H. & Mittal, M., (2022), Adoption of artificial intelligence in smart cities: A comprehensive review, retrieved from Adoption of artificial intelligence in smart cities: A comprehensive review ScienceDirect
- ³⁰⁷ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Lockhart, J., and Al., (2024), *Pioneering The Future Of Smart Cities With AI And Generative AI*, retrieved from <u>Pioneering The Future Of Smart Cities With AI And Generative AI (forbes.com)</u>
- Roth, Z., & Incera, M., (2024), *The Rise of Al-Powered Smart Cities*, retrieved from <u>The Rise of Al-Powered Smart Cities</u> | S&P Global (spglobal.com)
- Bibri, S., & Al., (2023), Environmentally sustainable smart cities and their converging Al, IoT, and big data technologies and solutions: an integrated approach to an extensive literature review, retrieved from Environmentally sustainable smart cities and their converging Al, IoT, and big data technologies and solutions: an integrated approach to an extensive literature review | Energy Informatics | Full Text (springeropen.com)
- ³¹² Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- Britt, M., & Al., (2023), What Are Smart Cities And Why Do We Need Them?, retrieved from What Are Smart Cities And Why Do We Need Them? (forbes.com)
- WEF, (2022), Why artificial intelligence is vital in the race to meet the SDGs, retrieved from Why artificial intelligence is vital in the race to meet the SDGs | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- Caragliu, A., (2022), *Smart cities and urban inequality*, retrieved from <u>Smart cities and urban inequality</u>: Regional Studies: Vol 56, No 7 Get Access (tandfonline.com)
- Watson, C., (2023), Al Can Already Design Better Cities Than Humans, Study Shows, retrieved from Al Can Already Design Better Cities Than Humans, Study Shows: ScienceAlert
- Nahar, S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting, retrieved from Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based

- innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting ScienceDirect
- Nahar, S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting, retrieved from Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting ScienceDirect
- Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Jacobs, K., (2022), *Toronto wants to kill the smart city forever*, retrieved from <u>Toronto wants</u> to kill the smart city forever | MIT Technology Review
- International Review of the Red Cross, (2022), Harnessing the potential of artificial intelligence for humanitarian action: Opportunities and risks, retrieved from Harnessing the potential of artificial intelligence for humanitarian action: Opportunities and risks | International Review of the Red Cross (icrc.org)
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- Jacobs, K., (2022), *Toronto wants to kill the smart city forever*, retrieved from <u>Toronto wants to kill the smart city forever | MIT Technology Review</u>
- UNESCO, (2024), Ethics of Artificial Intelligence, retrieved from Ethics of Artificial Intelligence LUNESCO
- ETH, (2024), SDG Monitor, retrieved from SDG Monitor (ethz.ch)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)
- ³²⁷ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ³²⁹ Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals
- UNSSC, (2023), The Future of Sustainable Reporting: How can AI help companies transition to Net-Zero?, retrieved from The Future of Sustainable Reporting: How can AI help companies transition to Net-Zero? UNSSC | United Nations System Staff College
- Thomas, J., (2023), How AI is helping companies meet sustainability goals, retrieved from How AI is helping companies meet sustainability goals IBM Blog
- Beermann, V., & Al., (2022), Green Nudges: How to Induce Pro-Environmental Behavior Using Technology, retrieved from (PDF) Green Nudges: How to Induce Pro-Environmental Behavior Using Technology (researchgate.net)
- Medium, (2023), *Al Enhanced Sustainable Fashion*, retrieved from <u>Al Enhanced Sustainable Fashion</u>. Introduction: | by GPTPlus | Medium
- Kareem, S., (2024), Leverage AI to simplify CSRD reporting, retrieved from Leverage AI to simplify CSRD reporting Microsoft Industry Blogs
- Saetra, H., (2022), AI for the Sustainable Development Goals

- Mckinsey & Company, (2023), Al-powered marketing and sales reach new heights with generative Al, retrieved from Marketing and sales soar with generative Al | McKinsey
- Zhang, (2024), The pathway to curb greenwashing in sustainable growth: The role of artificial intelligence, retrieved from <u>The pathway to curb greenwashing in sustainable growth: The role of artificial intelligence ScienceDirect</u>
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), Goal 13 Overview, retrieved from Goal 13 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), *Goal 13 Progress*, retrieved from <u>Goal 13 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- UN, (2024), *Goal 13 Progress*, retrieved from <u>Goal 13 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- ³⁴³ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- De Muynck, B., (2023), *The True Role Of Al In Logistics*, retrieved from <u>The True Role Of Al In Logistics</u> (forbes.com)
- Ritchie, H., (2020), Cars, planes, trains: where do CO₂ emissions from transport come from?, retrieved from <u>Cars</u>, planes, trains: where do CO₂ emissions from transport come from? <u>Our World in Data</u>
- ³⁴⁸ Al for Good, (2024), Breathing nature: Unveiling the biosphere's secrets through Al and earth observation, retrieved from <u>Breathing nature</u>: <u>Unveiling the biosphere's secrets through Al</u> and earth observation Al for Good (itu.int)
- WEF, (2024), The future of climate action: patterns, predictions and possibilities, retrieved from 9 ways Al is being deployed to fight climate change | World Economic Forum (weforum. org)
- ³⁵⁰ Al for Good (2024), The future of climate action: patterns, predictions and possibilities, retrieved from The future of climate action: patterns, predictions and possibilities Al for Good (itu.int)
- WEF, (2024), The future of climate action: patterns, predictions and possibilities, retrieved from 9 ways Al is being deployed to fight climate change | World Economic Forum (weforum. org)
- Luers, A., & al., (2024), Will Al accelerate or delay the race to net-zero emissions?, retrieved from Will Al accelerate or delay the race to net-zero emissions? (nature.com)

- Simion, A., (2023), Al and the future of consumerism, retrieved from Al and the future of consumerism (aiacceleratorinstitute.com)
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- UN, (2024), Goal 14 Overview, retrieved from Goal 14 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- UN, (2024), *Goal 14 Progress*, retrieved from <u>Goal 14 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)</u>
- ³⁵⁹ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Tiehm, A., (2024), Protecting water biodiversity with molecular biology and AI for targeted protection, retrieved from <u>Protecting water biodiversity with molecular biology and AI for targeted protection | TZW</u>
- Al for Good, (2024), Unveiling the future of amphibious robotics and bio-inspired locomotion, retrieved from <u>Unveiling the future of amphibious robotics and bio-inspired locomotion Al</u> for Good (itu.int)
- Statista, (2024), Ocean shipping worldwide statistics & facts, retrieved from Ocean shipping worldwide statistics & facts | Statista
- Yildirim, O., (2022), How AI is Influencing the Shipping Industry Today, retrieved from How AI is Influencing the Shipping Industry Today (Updated) (adv-polymer.com)
- Al for Good, (2024), Forecasting the future: Al in early warning systems, retrieved from Forecasting the future: Al in early warning systems Al for Good (itu.int)
- WEF, (2024), 9 ways AI is helping tackle climate change, retrieved from 9 ways AI is being deployed to fight climate change | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- Huby, A., & al., (2022), Oil Spill Detection based on Machine Learning and Deep Learning: A Review, retrieved from Oil Spill Detection based on Machine Learning and Deep Learning: A Review | IEEE Conference Publication | IEEE Xplore
- ³⁶⁸ Crawford, K., (2024), Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret, retrieved from Generative Al's environmental costs are soaring and mostly secret (nature. com)
- Al-cuisine, (2023), How Al is Helping to Combat Overfishing and Preserve our Aquatic Ecosystems, retrieved from How Al is Helping to Combat Overfishing and Preserve our Aquatic Ecosystems | The Ai Cuisine

- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ³⁷¹ Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making AI Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of AI Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- UN, (2024), Goal 15 Overview, retrieved from Goal 15 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- lsbell, E., & al., (2017), Linking the influence and dependence of people on biodiversity across scales, retrieved from Linking the influence and dependence of people on biodiversity across scales | Nature
- ³⁷⁵ ITU, (2024), *Al for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>Al for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Al for Good, (2024), Navigating GeoAl: Plotting the course for future education, retrieved from Navigating GeoAl: Plotting the course for future education Al for Good (itu.int)
- ³⁷⁸ Vinuesa, R., & Al., (2020), The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from The role of artificial intelligence in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals | Nature Communications
- WBCSD, (2023), Circular Transition Indicators v4.0, retrieved from <u>Circular Transition</u> <u>Indicators v4.0 WBCSD</u>
- ETH, (2022), Neural network can read tree heights from satellite images, retrieved from Neural network can read tree heights from satellite images | ETH Zurich
- SCIAM, (2023), How AI Can Help Save Endangered Species, retrieved from How AI Can Help Save Endangered Species | Scientific American
- Snow, J., (2016), *Rangers Use Artificial Intelligence to Fight Poachers*, retrieved from <u>Rangers Use Artificial Intelligence to Fight Poachers (nationalgeographic.com)</u>
- Saetra, H., (2022), Al for the Sustainable Development Goals
- Summit 360, (2023), The Environmental Impact of IT Equipment and How Refurbishing Can Help, retrieved from The Environmental Impact of IT Equipment and How Refurbishing Can Help (summit 360.com)
- ³⁸⁵ Circle Economy, (2024), Circularity Gap Report 2024, retrieved from <u>Circularity Gap</u> Reporting Initiative Home (circularity-gap.world)
- Li, P., & Al., (2023), Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models, retrieved from [2304.03271] Making Al Less "Thirsty": Uncovering and Addressing the Secret Water Footprint of Al Models (arxiv.org)
- UN, (2024), The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024, retrieved from The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)

- UN, (2024), Goal 16 Overview, retrieved from Goal 16 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ³⁸⁹ ITU, (2024), *AI for Good Innovate for Impact*, retrieved from <u>AI for Good-Innovate for Impact</u> <u>Final Report 2024 (itu.int)</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- ³⁹¹ UN, (2021), *Resource Guide on AI Strategies*, retrieved from <u>Resource Guide on AI Strategies June 2021.pdf</u>
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Partida D., (2023), Commentary: How Al Can Build Safer Cities, retrieved from <u>Commentary:</u> How Al Can Build Safer Cities | Planetizen Blogs
- Yang, Z., (2022), The complicated danger of surveillance states, retrieved from The complicated danger of surveillance states | MIT Technology Review
- Burton, J., (2023), Algorithmic extremism? The securitization of artificial intelligence (AI) and its impact on radicalism, polarization and political violence, retrieved from Algorithmic extremism? The securitization of artificial intelligence (AI) and its impact on radicalism, polarization and political violence ScienceDirect
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- ³⁹⁷ Johnson, D., and Johnson, A., (2023), What are deepfakes? How fake Al-powered audio and video warps our perception of reality, retrieved from What Are Deepfakes? How to Spot Fake Al Audio and Video (businessinsider.com)
- Andrews, E., (2020), *Using AI to Detect Seemingly Perfect Deep-Fake Videos*, retrieved from <u>Using AI to Detect Seemingly Perfect Deep-Fake Videos (stanford.edu)</u>
- ³⁹⁹ UN, (2021), *Resource Guide on AI Strategies*, retrieved from <u>Resource Guide on AI Strategies</u> June 2021.pdf
- Jacobs, K., (2022), *Toronto wants to kill the smart city forever*, retrieved from <u>Toronto wants</u> to kill the smart city forever | MIT Technology Review
- UNESCO, (2024), *Ethics of Artificial Intelligence*, retrieved from <u>Ethics of Artificial Intelligence</u> <u>LUNESCO</u>
- ⁴⁰² UN, (2024), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, retrieved from <u>The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf (un.org)</u>
- ITU, (2024), Al for Good Innovate for Impact, retrieved from Al for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report 2024 (itu.int)
- UN, (2024), *United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)*, retrieved from <u>United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI) ITU</u>
- Nahar, S., (2024), Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting, retrieved from Modeling the effects of artificial intelligence (AI)-based

Al for Good

- innovation on sustainable development goals (SDGs): Applying a system dynamics perspective in a cross-country setting ScienceDirect
- Medium, (2024), AI-Powered Collaboration: Transforming Ideation into Implementation with Smart Tools, retrieved from AI-Powered Collaboration: Transforming Ideation into Implementation with Smart Tools | by xtn | Medium
- ⁴⁰⁷ UN, (2021), *Resource Guide on AI Strategies*, retrieved from <u>Resource Guide on AI Strategies June 2021.pdf</u>
- Medium, (2024), AI-Powered Collaboration: Transforming Ideation into Implementation with Smart Tools, retrieved from AI-Powered Collaboration: Transforming Ideation into Implementation with Smart Tools | by xtn | Medium
- ⁴⁰⁹ Bastani, S., & Waldenström, D., (2024), *Future tax challenges in an Al-driven economy*, retrieved from <u>Future tax challenges in an Al-driven economy</u> | <u>CEPR</u>
- ⁴¹⁰ Al for Tax Function | PwC Switzerland
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- ⁴¹² Truby, J., (2020), Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals, retrieved from Governing Artificial Intelligence to benefit the UN Sustainable Development Goals (wiley.com)
- UN, (2021), Resource Guide on Al Strategies, retrieved from Resource Guide on Al Strategies June 2021.pdf
- UNESCO, (2024), *Ethics of Artificial Intelligence*, retrieved from <u>Ethics of Artificial Intelligence</u> <u>LUNESCO</u>

International Telecommunication Union

Place des Nations CH-1211 Geneva 20 Switzerland

ISBN: 978-92-61-39741-8

9 789261 397418

Published in Switzerland Geneva, 2024

Photo credits: ITU